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The Right to Information -
Giving power back to the people!

Ensuring free education for children in Gujarat1

Students attending a school run by a private trust in Kalol taluka, Panchamahals district in 
Gujarat were being forced by their teachers to pay fees, even though the school received 
financial support from the Gujarat Government and was not supposed to collect any fees from 
students. Aslambhai, a resident of Kalol taluka used the RTI Act to ask the Principal of the school 
for copies of the circulars or Government Orders which permitted the school to collect fees. 
Following the RTI application, the Principal admitted in writing that the school did not have any 
authority to collect any fees except for computer classes which the trust had begun at its own 
expense. Today, the students of this school are happy because their teachers are no longer 
demanding any fees from them.

Exposing massive expenditure of State funds by MPs in West Bengal2 
Mr Tathagata Roy, State President of the Bharatiya Janta Party, made an RTI application requesting 
information from the West Bengal Government on the amount of money spent on foreign trips 
of MPs. Responding to his request, the State Government revealed that large amounts of money 
from State funds were being used to finance the trips. For example, between 1987 - 2000, the 
State Government spent Rs 18,25,600 on the foreign trips of the then Chief Minister and between 
2001 - 05, the State Government spent Rs 4,60,722 on the foreign trips of the Chief Minister. 
The RTI Act is a powerful tool to hold elected representatives accountable for the manner in 
which they spend public funds. 

RTI unveils car registration racket in Chandigarh3

Captain A. N. Chopra (Retd), an insurance investigator, gathered evidence using the RTI Act to 
prove that a car insurance racket was being run by officials in the Registration and Licensing 
Authority (RLA) and second-hand car dealers in Chandigarh.  Chopra’s investigation  began 
when the case for an insurance claim for a car accident arrived on his desk. In his investigation, 
Chopra found that the original Registration Certificate (RC) and the one provided to the claimant, 
Mr Natwar, when he bought his second hand car, did not match. Using the RTI Act, Mr Chopra 
applied to the RLA for the complete file of the case. The records showed that in the vehicle’s RC, 
the year of manufacture had been changed from 1996 to 2000 and consequently the buyer, Mr 
Natwar, was made to pay an extra Rs 50,000 pocketed by the dealer and some RLA officials.

1 Venkatesh Nayak (2006) “Freeing Up Education for Children”, CHRI unpublished.
2 Staff reporter (2006) “Jyoti Basu’s 14 Foreign Trips Cost State Rs 18 lakh Only”, The Statesman, 27 January.
3 Rohit Mullick (2005) “Insurance Man Gets into Act, Exposes Racket”, Indian Express - Chandigarh 
Newsline, 12 December:  http://cities.expressindia.com/fullstory.php?newsid=161082 as on 20 March 
2006.



Introduction
Participation in governance is at the heart of any successful democracy. As citizens, we 
need to participate not only at the time of elections but on a day-to-day basis - when 
decisions on policy, laws and schemes are being made and projects and activities are 
being implemented. Public involvement not only enhances the quality of governance but 
also promotes transparency and accountability in government functioning.  But in reality 
how can citizens take part in governance? How can the public understand how decisions 
are being made? How can ordinary people find out how tax money is being spent, if 
public schemes are being properly run or whether the government is acting honestly and 
fairly when it makes decisions? How can government servants be made answerable to the 
public they are supposed to serve?

One way of participating is by exercising the right to access information from bodies which 
spend public money or perform public services. Following the enactment of the Right to 
Information Act 2005 (RTI Act) in May 2005, all citizens of India now have the RIGHT to 
access information. The RTI Act recognises that in a democracy like India, all information 
held by government ultimately belongs to the people. Making information available to 
citizens is simply a part of normal government functioning because the public have a right 
to know what public officials do with their money and in their name. 

The RTI Act recognises that the sharing of information by government with citizens is healthy 
and beneficial to the functioning of democracy. Secrecy should become a thing of the past; 
under the RTI Act, no citizen can now be denied information that elected representatives 
such as MLAs and MPs can get from the government. The new law covers not only public 
authorities at the Centre but also all the States4 and local self-governing bodies. This 
means that citizens in every village, district, town or city across India can demand access 
to information held by public bodies.  

To date, secrecy has characterised the functioning of all government bodies in India, but 
with the RTI Act, the tide has started to turn. Where the Officials Secret Act 1923 made 
the disclosure of information a punishable offence, the RTI Act now requires openness 
in government. Giving out government held information to the public used to be a rare 

4 Jammu and Kashmir is not covered because of its special constitutional status. The Jammu and Kashmir 
Right to Information Act enacted by the State Legislature in 2009 may be used to seek information from public 
authorities under the State Government. Residents of J&K may use the RTI Act 2005 to access information 
from public authorities under the Central Government.
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exception, usually at the whim of officers within a public authority, but now the RTI Act 
gives all citizens the right to ask questions - and demand answers - about governance and 
development issues that affect their lives. The Act makes it much more difficult for officials to 
cover up their corrupt practices. Access to information will help expose poor policy-making 
which will contribute to reviving the political, economic and social development of India. 

The campaign for the Right to Information

Grassroots organisations and civil society groups have campaigned for an effective 
national right to information law since the 1990’s. However, it was only in 2002 that 
the Central Government finally took a step forward, passing the Freedom of Information 
Act 2002 (FOI Act). Unfortunately, the Act was never brought into force and people 
were never able to exercise their rights under the new law. In 2004, however, the newly 
elected United Progressive Alliance (UPA) Government promised to make the right to 
information more ”progressive, participatory and meaningful”. The National Advisory 
Council (NAC) was set up to oversee the UPA Government’s promise and included key 
figures in the National Campaign for People’s Right to Information (NCPRI). 

In August 2004, based on submissions made by the NCPRI, CHRI and other civil society 
groups, the NAC submitted a set of recommendations to the Government for amending 
the FOI Act. Drawing heavily on the NAC’s recommendations, in December 2004, the 
Right to Information Bill 2004 was tabled by the Government in Parliament. The Bill was 
finally passed by the Lok Sabha on 11 May 2005 and moved successfully through the 
Rajya Sabha on 12 May 2005. The Right To Information Act 2005 received Presidential 
assent on 15 June 2005. Some provisions requiring the setting up of a country-wide 
system to give citizens access to information came into force immediately. The RTI Act 
became fully operational on 12 October 2005. 

One of the surest ways of ensuring that the RTI Act is properly implemented and serves 
its purpose of making the government more responsive, is for all of us to use it frequently 
responsibly and effectively. It is with this aim in mind that CHRI has developed this User’s 
Guide. The User’s Guide aims to explain:

(a)	 who is covered by the Act;
(b)	 what information is accessible under the Act;
(c)	 how information can be accessed in practice;
(d)	 what options people have if they are not given the information they want; and
(e)	 how people can get involved and ensure the Act is implemented effectively to 

make the government more accountable, efficient and responsive.
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Part 1: What is the 
“Right To Information”?

The right to information is a fundamental human right which is made up of different rights 
and responsibilities, namely: 
	 Every person’s RIGHT to request information from the government - and even 

private bodies in some cases;
	 The DUTY on the government to provide the requested information, unless 

defined exemptions apply; and 
	 The DUTY on the government to proactively disclose information that is of general 

public interest without the need for requests from citizens.

The Constitution of India does not specifically mention the right to information, but it has 
long been recognised by the Supreme Court of India as a fundamental right necessary 
for democratic functioning. Specifically, the Supreme Court has recognised the right to 
information as an integral part of the right to freedom of speech and expression guaranteed 
by the Constitution (Article 19) and a necessary part of the right to life (Article 21).5

The right to access information reflects the fact that government information belongs to the 
people, not the public body that holds it. Information is not ‘owned’ by any department or 
by the government of the day. Rather, information is generated with public money by public 
servants, paid out of public funds and is held in trust for the people. This means you have 
the right to access information about governments’ actions, decisions, policies, decision-
making processes and even information held by private bodies or individuals in some cases. 

The right to information is not absolute. Some information may be held back where  giving 
out the information would harm key interests which need to be protected. For example, 
information about troop deployment during a war or advice regarding national economic 
policies prior to their publication, are instances where it may be valid for officials to not 
disclose information, at least until a certain sensitive period has passed. Nonetheless, the 
key question will always remain: is it in the public interest to disclose information rather 
than withhold it?

5 Bennett Coleman & Co. v Union of India, AIR 1973 SC 783, dissenting judgment of Justice KK Matthew; 
State of UP v Raj Narain, AIR 1975 SC 865; SP Gupta v Union of India, AIR 1982 SC 149; Indian Express 
Newspapers (Bombay) Pvt Ltd v India (1985) 1 SCC 641; Reliance Petrochemicals Ltd v Proprietors of Indian 
Express Newspapers Bombay Pvt Ltd, AIR 1989 SC 190. Essar Oil Ltd. v Halar Utkarsh Samiti and Ors., AIR 
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Part 2: How can the Right to 
Information Act help me?

You can use the RTI Act to take the initiative in making sure that the government provides 
you with the services you are entitled to and the rights and benefits that are your due as a 
citizen of India. However, the RTI Act is not a solution in itself; it is a first step. For example, 
using the RTI Act may not get you a new electricity or water metre connection, but it can 
help you find out who is responsible for taking action on your application, what progress 
has been made, how soon you should have gotten the connection under the service norms 
of the department concerned and why action has been delayed in your case. 

Jan sunwai on public works brings transparency6

In 2002, Parivartan, a Delhi based NGO, used the Delhi Right to Information Act 2001 
to get copies of contracts for public works in two resettlement colonies in East Delhi, 
which they then used to conduct a social audit of 68 public works with alarming results. 
The social audit revealed massive corruption. Most of the public works existed on paper 
but not in reality. For example, under 10 contracts, 29 handpumps with electric motors 
were supposed to be installed, but residents of the area reported that only 14 handpumps 
were installed. Out of a total of 253 iron gratings scheduled to be installed on street 
drains for which payments were made, only 30 iron gratings were actually installed? 
Parivartan’s investigations into the 68 public works, worth Rs 1.3 crores, found that 
items worth Rs 70 lakhs were missing.

With this information in hand, Parivartan met the Chief Minister, Chief Secretary, Secretary 
(Administrative Reforms) of Delhi and the Commissioner of the Municipal Corporation of 
Delhi demanding that the guilty be punished. In May 2004, responding to a petition filed 
by Parivartan, the Delhi High Court directed the Delhi Police to investigate the corruption 
allegations.  In response, the Municipal Councillor of the Seemapuri area approached 
Parivartan offering total transparency in the execution of all civil works carried out in the 
area. The Executive Engineer was directed to provide copies of estimates and sketches 
before beginning any work and to allow inspection after completion. The Councillor 
offered to let the public and Parivartan find faults with the works and said that payments 
would not be made for any work till the objections made by the people were settled.

6 Parivartan (2002) “Parivartan Conducts First Urban Jan Sunwai”: http://www.parivartan.com/jansunwais.
asp#Parivartan%20conducts%20first%20Urban%20Jansunwai as on 20 March 2006. 
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In many instances the use of the right to information has worked magic: connections 
delayed for months on end have been provided within less than a week; badly constructed 
roads have been paved within ten days; garbage not cleared for months is removed every 
morning and much more. The very thought of having to answer citizens’ queries has begun 
to put the fear of law in the minds of many government officers. Many problems  are being 
sorted out through the intelligent use of the right to information. For example:
	 People holding ration cards can check the stocks and sales registers held by 

ration card dealers and the food department to make sure that they are getting 
their proper amount of rations and that rations are not being siphoned off in 
their name;

	 Parents can ask for details of grants made to government-aided schools to ensure 
that funds are being spent properly, or can check that admissions are not being 
bought through bribes or that funds meant for education are not being diverted 
for other purposes;

	 Owners of small businesses can find out the basis on which licences and/or tax 
concessions and subsidies are granted by government and who the beneficiaries 
are. They can also check that the government is granting licences/concessions/
subsidies on the basis of properly applied criteria;

	 Unemployed people can ask about the criteria for giving government jobs or 
the status of their application and position in the waitlist;

	 People can check on the progress of their applications for government services, 
e.g. by checking the status of an application for an electricity or water connection, 
including which officers have handled the file, over what period of time and what 
action was taken.

As a community-minded person, you may want to find out information about issues of 
public importance and try to get the government to address problems. For example, you 
can find out: 
	 How many deaths have occurred in a government hospital and for what reasons 

or what the shortfall of doctors and nurses is compared with sanctioned staff;
	 The daily attendance of teachers in government schools;
	 How many people are being housed in local jails compared with the sanctioned 

capacity of the jail;
	 How often inspectors visit factories and other manufacturing units to check that 

they are not illegally releasing hazardous materials into the environment;
	 How many contractors have been blacklisted by the municipal authorities and of 

the blacklisted how many have been given contracts for executing public works. 

Usefulness of the Right
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PART 3: From whom can I get information?
The RTI Act applies to the whole country, across all the States and Union Territories (except the 
state of Jammu and Kashmir which is not covered because of its special status under Article 
370 of the Constitution).7 The RTI Act specifically spells out the government bodies from 
which you can and cannot get information. It even requires that bodies covered by the Act 
nominate specific officers who will be responsible for receiving and processing your requests.

What bodies are covered?

The RTI Act gives you the right to access to information held by “public authorities”.8  Public 
authorities include bodies which are:
	 Established or constituted by or under the Constitution; 
	 Established or constituted by a law of Parliament or a State Legislature; 
	 Established or constituted by a notification or order of the State or Central 

Governments;
	 Owned, controlled or substantially financed by the State or Central Governments, 

including non-government organisations which receive substantial government 
funds.

The definition of “public authorities” is deliberately broad because it is essential that as 
many bodies as possible are brought within the scope of the law. In effect, all administrative 
levels of government are covered. This means that people can ask for information from 
any and all Panchayats - Zila Parishads, Samitis/Mandal/Janpad Panchayats and Gram 
Panchayats - municipalities, block development offices, sub-divisional offices, the District 
Collector/Deputy Commissioner’s office, all government departments at the Secretariat 
level, the armed forces, schools and colleges which are established, run and/or funded 
by the government, universities, public sector banks and public sector enterprises. 

It is a notable feature of the Act that it also covers non-government organisations, which 
are substantially financed by government funds. This means, that where public monies 
are given to a private organisation, that organisation should be open to scrutiny from the 
public. In practice, privately aided schools, colleges, hospitals or any charitable organisation 
implementing government schemes, such as the midday meals programme, will be required 
to disclose information under the RTI Act. 

7 See above note 4.
8 Section 2(h), Right to Information Act 2005 (hereafter all section references refer to the Right to Information 
Act 2005 unless otherwise specified).
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Some organisations are not covered9

Unfortunately, there are still some organisations which are not completely covered by 
the RTI Act. The Act specifically lists 18 Central security and intelligence organisations 
which are not required to provide information and empowers States to exempt similar 
organisations under their control. However, the Act does at least require that these 
agencies supply information which is requested regarding allegations of corruption 
and human rights violations. Information about allegations of human rights violations 
will only be provided with the approval of the relevant Information Commission within 
45 days from the date of the receipt of the request.

Who do I approach within the body holding the 
information?

Ideally, anyone within a public authority should assist you in submitting your application. 
However, to make sure that there is a clear contact point for the public, the RTI Act designates 
two different types of officials to handle requests in public authorities: Public Information 
Officers (PIOs) and Assistant Public Information Officers (APIOs).

	 Public Information Officers: PIOs must be designated in all administrative units 
or offices, at the Central, State and local administration levels. PIOs are responsible 
for receiving and processing applications.10 They also have a duty to assist requesters 
who are having trouble making their applications. The names of PIOs have to be 
prominently displayed on notice boards at all offices and on their websites.

	 Assistant Public Information Officers: The Act also requires public 
authorities to designate Assistant PIOs at the sub-district or sub-divisional level, to 
forward applications to the relevant PIO located at higher levels. This system has been 
put in place so that people in outlying areas, far away from government headquarters, 
will have less difficulty in submitting and following up their applications. The APIO 
has a duty to forward the application to the PIO within five days of receipt. APIOs 
are not responsible for actually giving you the information because that is the primary 
responsibility of the PIO.11 However, if the information is easily accessible, they should 
log your application and provide the information to you as soon as possible.

9 Section 24.
10 Section 5(1).
11 Section 5(2).

Bodies covered by the Act
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PIOs should not make you run around to submit an application

In some government ministries/departments, multiple PIOs have been appointed to 
handle and process applications. This has been quite confusing for requesters because 
the PIOs have often forced them to run around from one PIO to the next, until they find 
“the right one”. For example, the Delhi Development Authority (DDA) has appointed close 
to 40 PIOs, assigning each PIO a specific subject/jurisdiction. As a result, requestors 
have been forced to file multiple requests or pay excessive fees if the information spanned 
more than one PIO’s jurisdiction. This is NOT permitted under the Act. In a recent case, 
the Central Information Commission confirmed that this approach was wrong, directing 
the DDA to ensure that its PIOs accept ALL applications, irrespective of whether or not 
the application falls within their specific subject/jurisdiction.12 Ideally, public authorities 
could also develop a “single window” for applications, where one PIO at the front of 
the office will receive applications, even if multiple PIOs will process them.

The Central Government has designated APIOs in the Postal Department offices across the 
country, to forward applications related to all Central Government matters and forward 
these on to the relevant PIOs in different departments. For a full list of Central APIOs 
within the Postal Department log on to the RTI portal set up by the Government of India 
at: http://rti.gov.in. 

12 Central Information Commission (2006) Appeal No. 10/1/2005-CIC, 25 February: www.cic.nic.in as on 
20 March 2006.
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PART 4:  What information can I get?
The RTI Act promotes the maximum disclosure of information. In practice, this means you 
can get most information that is held by public authorities, subject to a few exceptions, 
which are designed to protect sensitive information from being released, where its release 
would cause more harm than public good.

What information is accessible?

The RTI Act allows you access to a wide range of information held by public authorities 
in different forms. For example, you can use the Act to get hold of records, manuscripts, 
files, file notings, microfilm, microfiche, facsimiles, documents, memos, emails, opinions, 
advices, press releases, circulars, orders, logbooks, contracts, reports, papers, samples, 
models, data which is in electronic form, any material produced by a computer or any 
other device, and even information relating to a private body which a public authority can 
get under an existing law.13 

Under the RTI Act, you have the:

Right to Inspect Records or Works
You can ask to inspect any work, document or record in person.  For example, you 
can ask to physically inspect the construction of a bridge or installation of a handpump 
to make sure that the work is being undertaken according to proper service standards 
or you can examine government files as one way of keeping down costs so that you 
decide what papers you want and then ask only for copies of those you want;14

Right to Certified Copies
You can get certified copies or extracts of documents or records and can even ask 
to take notes from documents and records;15

Right to Get Samples or Models
You can ask for certified samples of materials or models. For example, you can 
ask for a sample of the road being built in front of your house so that you can 
check whether proper materials are being used in accordance with the contract;16

13 Section 2(f) and 2(i)
14 Section 2(j)(i).
15 Section 2(j)(ii).
16 Section 2(j)(iii).

Information covered by the Act
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Right to Get Information in Electronic Form
You have the right to get information in the form of diskettes, floppies, tapes, video 
cassettes or in any other electronic form or through printouts. The Act has been 
drafted broadly enough so that even information held in new types of technology 
will be covered.17

You can access information about private companies from public authorities

Apart from getting information from public authorities under the Act, you can also request 
information from a public authority which relates to a private body if the public authority 
can access that information under an existing law. For example, industries are required 
by the Ministry of Environment and Forests to submit “Environmental Statements” (ES) 
to the State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs). These statements are used to determine 
the efforts made by an industry to minimise pollution and conserve resources. You can 
use the RTI Act to access these statements. The point of this provision is that public 
authorities should not be able to reject your request just because they have not done 
their duty under the law. If they should have collected the information by law, then under 
the RTI Act they are required to go out and retrieve the information - and then pass it 
on to you. Ideally, this will mean that they must also act on the information they collect.

Is there any information which is not accessible?

Though the RTI Act gives you the right to access a very broad range of information, there 
are still situations wherein you may not be able to get access to information because it is 
very sensitive.  Such information is “exempt” from being given to you by the government, 
on the basis that making it public would cause more harm than good to the public. The 
RTI Act spells out specific cases where information can legitimately be denied to you,18 
namely if:

(a) 	 disclosure would harm national security, scientific or economic interests of India 
or relations with a foreign State or lead to the incitement of an offence;  

(b)	 any court of law or tribunal has forbidden the information from being published 
or the release would constitute a contempt of court;

(c) 	 disclosure would cause a breach of privilege of Parliament or the State Legislature;
(d) 	 the information is confidential commercial information, trade secrets or intellectual 

property or giving it out would harm the competitive position of a third party 
(such as the company that provided it to the public authority);

17 Section 2(j)(iv).
18 Sections 8(1) and 9.
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(e) 	 the information is available to a person because he has a fiduciary relationship 
with another person (such as a doctor/patient or lawyer/client relationship);

(f) 	 the information has been given by a foreign government in confidence; 
(g) 	 disclosure would endanger the life or physical safety of a person;
(h) 	 disclosure would impede the process of criminal investigation or apprehension 

or prosecution of offenders;
(i) 	 cabinet papers including records of deliberations of the Council of Ministers, 

Secretaries and other officers, although information should be released after a 
decision is made;

(j) 	 the information requested is personal information, the giving out of which has 
nothing to do with any public activity, or which would cause an unwarranted 
invasion of the privacy of the individual; 

(k) 	 disclosure would infringe the copyright of a body other than the State. 

These exemptions are not absolute. Even where the information you have requested is 
covered by an exemption, if the public interest in disclosure outweighs the harm against 
which the exemptions are protecting, then it should still be released. This is known as the 
“public interest override” and it applies to all categories of exempt information.19 For 
example, in the past, access to copies of defence contracts between the Government of 
India and foreign companies was denied under the pretext of protecting the national and 
security interests of the country. However, if there are allegations of payment of kickbacks 
and undue influence exerted by middlemen to secure these contracts, there is a greater 
public interest in knowing the details of the contract. Taxpayers have a right to know whether 
the country got value for money spent, whether the best quality equipment was selected 
or not, and whether bribes were paid to crucial people in the decision making process. 
This information cannot be denied using the exemption for security and strategic interests 
provided in the Act because there is a greater public interest in disclosing it.

Information Parliament can get, you can get too

The guiding principle that determines information access under the RTI Act is that any 
information which cannot be denied to the Parliament or a State Legislature cannot be 
denied to you.20 So, even where an exemption applies, if that information has to be 
given to the Parliament or the State Legislature, then it has to be given to you.

19 Section 8(2). See the box on page 26 for further discussion on the “public interest override”.
20 Section 8(1).

Information covered by the Act
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In any case, exempt information, like most other things, has a shelf life and will not be 
exempt forever. Sometimes, once a bit of time has passed, releasing the information will no 
longer cause any kind of harm. For example, national economic information which could 
affect India’s international financial standing today may not be sensitive 10 or 20 years 
down the track. The RTI Act allows you to request information about any event, occurrence 
or matter after 20 years, even though at one time or another it may have been covered 
by one or more exemptions.21

21 Section 8(3).
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PART 5: What information must be 
proactively published?

The RTI Act requires all public authorities covered under the law to publish suo moto 
or proactively a wide range of information on their own, even if no one has specifically 
requested it.  This is a key provision because it recognises that some information is so 
useful and important to the community at large, that it should be given out regularly, 
without anyone specifically requesting it.  More broadly, it recognises that transparency is 
generally in the public interest and that public authorities should therefore strive to make 
as much information public as possible.

Information that promotes participation and oversight

Section 4 of the RTI Act requires all public authorities to routinely publish 17 categories of 
information,22 which should be updated regularly.23 This ensures that citizens always have 
access to authentic, useful and relevant information. The information to be published falls 
under the following general areas:

Structure of the organisation - Its functions and duties, powers and duties of its officers, 
a directory of its employees, monthly renumeration received by each employee. 

For example: The organisational chart of the organisation, names of the officers 
in charge of departments, the functions and powers of each and every officer 
employed and the salary they receive.

Process of functioning - The procedures followed in decision-making, norms, rules and 
regulations, categories of documents held by the public authority.

For example: Government Regulations on how ration cards are issued, old age 
pensions schemes are administered or visas are provided. In fact the very laws, 
rules, internal orders, memos and circulars that guide the day-to-day functioning 
of public authorities.

22 Section 4(1).
23 Section 4(2).

Proactive Disclosure
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Financial details and schemes relating to the organisation - The budget for all 
authorities (including the schemes and activities they manage and any reports regarding 
implementation) the manner of execution of subsidy programmes (including funds 
allocated and the details of beneficiaries of such programmes) plus particulars of 
recipients of all concessions, permits or authorisations granted by the office.

For example: Expenditure estimates, details of grants and funds received by the 
public authorities, lists of people below the poverty line (BPL), regular updates 
on the administration of rural development schemes, details of the beneficiaries 
under the Employment Guarantee Scheme, recipients of industrial licences, and 
budget documents for panchayats.

Details of consultative arrangements - Opportunities for people to get involved in the 
formulation of policies or their implementation, as well as a statement of government 
boards, committees, councils and advisory groups. 

For example: Committees of Panchayats and municipalities to deal with specific 
issues, parliamentary committees, boards of inquiry, departmental purchase 
committees, departmental promotion committees or technical advisory bodies.

Details related to accessing information - A list of all the categories of documents 
available in an office, details of information available/held in electronic form, facilities 
available to citizens to access information, and the names and designations of Public 
Information Officers.

For example: Days and timings of public dealings, timings of libraries and reading 
rooms, and contact names for all officials working to administer the RTI Act.

Already, a number of public authorities at the Central and State Government levels have 
published Section 4 information on their websites and through various other means. You 
can  access the proactive disclosure statements of ministries/departments under the Central 
or state governments by logging on to the RTI Portal developed by the Government of 
India at http://www.rti.gov.in.

Public authorities need to make sure that all Section 4 information gets widely disseminated. 
It is not enough to just collect it all and keep it on file. It needs to be published widely and in 
forms which make it accessible to ordinary people - for example, by posting the information 
on office notice boards, publishing it in newspapers, uploading it onto government websites, 
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making public announcements and making sure that it is published in the local language 
of the area.24  At a minimum, every PIO has to have the information available in the form 
of a document or on a computer where it can be produced for ready inspection or given 
out immediately if requested as a printout or photocopy instantly.25

Information that promotes accountable decision-making

The government regularly develops policies, projects and schemes that affect the public. The 
RTI Act requires that all public authorities also publish all relevant facts when formulating 
policies or announcing decisions. This means that citizens can more actively engage in the 
policy process and can more effectively scrutinise whether decisions made were soundly 
based.26 This would include, for example, publishing details of any plans relating to the 
acquisition of private lands for constructing dams or power projects, or the development 
of new poverty alleviation policies and schemes. 

Public authorities now also have to give the reasons for their decisions to all people who will 
be affected by them.27 For example, if a decision has been made to withdraw the benefits 
given to a citizen under a welfare scheme, then the public authority taking the decision 
should specifically write to the affected person to explain the reasons for doing so. In any 
case, the decision should be published so that all members of the public can scrutinise 
whether decisions are being made properly.

You have no application fee or long wait for Section 4 information!

The RTI Act envisages that proactive disclosure information will be widely published for 
free by the government. No specific application needs to be made and no application 
fee paid. Because it is not treated as an application, you do not need to wait 30 days 
to get the information. The information should be given to you immediately. At most, 
you may be charged for the cost of any copies you may ask for, but inspection should 
be free. If a public authority asks you to submit an application with a fee, you should 
ask them to check with the Central and State Information Commissions, who will be 
sure to confirm that you do not have to file an application.

24 Sections 4(2), (3) and (4).
25 Section 4(4).
26 Section 4(1)(c).
27 Section 4(1)(d).

Proactive Disclosure

15



PART 6: How do I request information?
If you want access to specific information not proactively disclosed by the government, 
for example, if you want to know how your MP is spending his/her MP Local Area 
Development fund, how much money is sanctioned for road and drain maintenance in 
your neighbourhood or you want to see a copy of the contract for the refurbishment of 
a ministry’s offices, the RTI Act gives you the right to make a specific written request for 
information to a public authority. 28 

Step 1: Identify the public authority which holds the 
information

The first thing you will need to do is identify which public authority holds the information 
you want. If you are not certain who that is, make a list of the possible public authorities 
who you think might deal with the information and then consider the one most likely to 
have it. You do not need to be too worried about getting it wrong, because the RTI Act 
requires that even if the office to which you submit your application does not have the 
information you have requested, they should not return the application, but instead are 
under a duty to transfer the application to the relevant public authority within five days.29 If 
your application is transferred, the first public authority must inform you of the transfer in 
writing. The second public authority then becomes responsible for providing you with the 
information you have requested within the original 30 day period.

For example: If you want to know how much money was allocated to construct a by-lane 
in your colony/neighbourhood, you would need to submit an application to the local 
municipal corporation responsible for roads and public works in your area. Or if you 
want to know about the progress of your application for a new electricity connection 
then you need to apply to the electricity department. Or if you want to know details of 
the kinds of free health services available free at primary health care centres, then you 
would need to submit an application to the health department. 

28 Section 6(1).
29 Section 6(3).
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Step 2: Identify who to submit your application to within 
the public authority

Once you have identified the public authority that holds the information you want, you will 
need to decide who to submit the application to. You should be able to get a list of Public 
Information Officers (PIOs) and Assistant Public Information Officers (APIOs) appointed in 
each department from the relevant department website or by contacting the department 
directly and asking them for guidance.30 You should note though, that if you submit your 
application to an APIO, then the time limits for a response to your application increase 
from 30 days to 35 days. The RTI Act requires that every department must maintain a list 
of its PIOs and APIOs in electronic or in printed form.  

Although it is the duty of EVERY public authority covered under the RTI Act to designate 
PIOs to receive and process applications, in practice it has been reported that some public 
authorities have yet to designate PIOs and are refusing applications for information on 
that basis. If this happens to you, you can directly complain to the Central Information 
Commission or State Information Commission as the case may be and demand the 
appointment of PIOs (see Part 8 for more details). The Information Commissions have the 
power to require the appointment of Central or State Public Information Officers.31  

Step 3: Draft a clearly focused application

You can make a written or electronic application in English, Hindi or in the official language 
of your area.32 When writing out your application, it is important that you draft your 
request in a clear and concise way. It is absolutely essential that you make your request 
as specific as possible so that you get the information you want and avoid getting loads 
of documents you do not want and for which you may have to pay for. It is important to 
draft your application in specific terms so that the PIO cannot return it on the grounds that 
it was too vague or difficult to understand.

The Central Government has fixed a limit of 500 words for each RTI application (Annex 2). 
The name and contact details of the applicant and the PIO and any annexure attached to 
the application will be excluded from this word limit. If you are submitting an application 

30 Alternatively, log on to the official RTI Portal developed by the Government of India for links to the lists 
of PIOs and APIOs appointed at the Centre and in the States: http://www.rti.gov.in as on 20 March 2006.
31 Section 19(8)(a)(ii).
32 Section 6(1).
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to a State PIO in Karnataka, Bihar or Maharashtra your application must be limited to 
150 words and one subject matter only (Annex 3).

You do not need to explain why you want information

The Act makes it very clear that there is no need for you to give reasons for why you 
want a particular piece of information.33 You can request any kind of information 
without saying why or for what purpose you want the information in your application. 
This reflects the fact that the right to information is YOUR right, and you do not need 
to justify your request. Secrecy is now what needs to be justified.

The Act does not specify a particular form that must be used to make applications, 
though some state governments appear to be demanding that. Significantly, the Central 
Government Right to Information Rules 2012 do not prescribe a fixed format for applications. 
Additionally, some state governments have made it clear that applications have to be 
made in a specific format but not on a specific form.34 In a landmark decision, the Central 
Information Commission has ruled that a request for information even on an ordinary piece 
of paper should be treated as a formal application. Government departments may prescribe 
forms for administrative purposes but this should not prevent handwritten applications from 
being made on plain paper or photocopied forms.35 

Step 4: Submit your application

After completing the application, you need to send it to:
	 The PIO in the public authority which has the information you want; or
	 The APIO located at the sub-district or sub-divisional level near you, who is then 

under a duty to forward your application to the relevant PIO.

You can submit your application in person or send it by post, fax or email. If you are 
sending your application by post you should send it by registered post or under certificate 
of posting (UCP) so that you have proof of postage and the PIO cannot claim that he/she 
never received the application.  If you are submitting your application in person, always 

33 Section 6(2).
34 The Gujarat and Maharashtra RTI Fee Rules allow applications made on plain paper provided they contain 
all details required in the printed format.
35 NDTV(2006) “Slumdweller Wins Right to Information”, NDTV.com, 8 February:
http://www.ndtv.com/morenews/showmorestory.asp?category=National&slug=Slum+dweller+%27wins%
27+right+ to+information&id=84602 as on 20 March 2006.
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make sure to ask for a receipt for the application. The acknowledgement should inclicate 
the time and date when the application was received, where it was received and who 
received it.

The Act requires that an application fee must be paid before an application will be 
processed. Different fees have been prescribed by the Centre and the States (see Annex 3 
for details). If you are submitting your application in person, the PIO or APIO should give 
you a receipt on the spot, acknowledging on what date he/she received your application 
and that he/she received payment of the application fee. In some departments, the PIO 
may not accept the fee themselves, but may send you to another section which is permitted 
to deal with cash payment. In any case, be sure to get a receipt for any fees you pay. 
Alternatively, if you are mailing your application, you can pay the fee by demand draft, 
bankers’ cheque or money order, but if you pay by cash, you will need to send in a copy 
of your payment receipt. You may pay fee through electronic mode if such facilities have 
been created by the public authorities.

The RTI Act does not specify any mode for paying application fees (or additional fees for 
accessing information). The modes of payment are specified in the Fee Rules issued by 
the Central and state Governments (see Annex 3 for details). Some states have limited the 
payment options, specifying that you can only pay by demand draft, bankers’ cheque or in 
cash. Ideally, however you should be able to choose from a wider range of options, including 
non-judicial stamps and postal orders. If you have doubts about how you can pay the fee, 
you should check the Rules prescribed by your government and/or contact the PIO or the 
nodal agency responsible for implementing the Act because they should  help you.

People who are “Below the Poverty Line” pay no fees36

Applicants who are below the poverty line (BPL) do not have to have to pay any fees under 
the RTI Act. When applying for information, BPL cardholders need to attach a copy of 
their BPL card as proof or an extract from the BPL list containing their name or some other 
such proof signed by a competent officer.  Alternatively, when submitting an application 
in person, BPL Applicants have a right to get the PIO to put on acknowledgement of 
their BPL status on their application as proof.

36 Section 7(5).
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Suggested format for applications under RTI*

It is important when writing your application that you word your question tightly so that 
it is perfectly clear what information you want. At a minimum, your application should 
contain enough information to enable a PIO to provide you with the information you 
want. An application under the RTI Act would look something like the following:

To:	 Public Information Officer/Assistant Public Information Officer
	 (Name of the Department)
	 (Postal Address)

1.	 Full name of applicant: Ms Kavita Joshi
2.	 Address: 105 Sundar Nagar, 2 Floor, New Delhi - 110003
3.	 Phone number: (011) 2436 7489
4.	 Application submission date: 10  March 2006
5.	 Name of the department: Public Works Department
6.	 Details of information requested: Do not write a general question like  “I want 

to know why the road in front of my house was not fixed”. It is more likely to get 
a vague response as opposed to:

	 (a)	 How much money was allocated in the last two years for the maintenance 
of  Aurobindo Marg between IIT Flyover and Adchini?

	 (b)	 How much money was actually spent on fixing the road, and:
	 (i)	 who was the relevant contract(s) awarded to;
	 (j)	 what were the tender specifications;
	 (k)	 when was the work completed; 
	 (l)	 what is the name and designation of the officer who verified 

completion of the work according to the specifications in the 
contract.

7.	 Period for which information is requested: January 2005 to present date
8. 	 Form of information requested: copy/inspection of works/inspection of records/

certified copy of records/certified sample.
9.	 Details of fee payment:  Receipt No. XXXX, Date: 10 March 2006
10.	 Does the applicant fall below the poverty line : Yes/No
	 (if yes, then attach proof of BPL status)

						       _____________________________
                                                                          Signature of the Applicant

* This is only a sample format for applications. CHRI recommends you confirm with the PIO of the public 
authority you are seeking information from what details you should include in your application.
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Step 5: Wait for a decision

Once the PIO receives your application, complete with the application fee, he/she is 
required to process it as fast as possible but no later than 30 days from the date on which 
he/she receives the application.37 If an APIO passed the application on, another 5 days 
gets added to this timeline.38 However, where the information requested is vital to ensuring 
the life or liberty of a person, a decision has to be made within 48 hours.39 For example, 
if a person is picked up by the police without an arrest warrant or an arrest memo, his 
family, friends or even a concerned third person can ask for his whereabouts from the 
PIO of the police department and a response must be made within 2 days. Where such 
an application is made, it is good practice to include in the application an explanation 
as to why you think the application relates to “life or liberty” so the PIO does not delay 
assessing your application.

37 Section 7(1).
38 Section 5(2).
39 Section 7(1).
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STEP 1
Consider your problem - 
frame a question - identify 
the public authority and PIO 
you think has the information.

STEP 2
Draft and submit your 
application with application 
fee to PIO.

STEP 3
PIO has 30 days to approve 
or reject your application.

Information not available 
with public authority - PIO to 
transfer application to relevant 
public authority within 5 days 
- must send written notice of 
transfer to you.

OPTION 1
Application is accepted.

OPTION 2
Application is rejected

(If a decision is not given 
within the deadline,  it is 
regarded as rejected and you 
can make an appeal).PIO to notify you in writing of:

-	additional fees to be paid;
-	information concerning 

your r ight  to rev iew 
the decision fees, form 
of access, detai ls of 
Appellate Authority and 
relevant forms to make 
an appeal.

PIO has to notify you in 
writing:

-	reason for the rejection;
-	per iod in which any 

appeal can be made;
-	details of the Appellate 

Authority.

No fee for  BPL 
(below the poverty 
line) applicants.

Information will be 
provided free if the 
public authority fails 
to comply with the 
time limits.

 

For more information, see 
Flowchart 2 at page 38 
about appeals & complaints.

Flow Chart 1: Application Process
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PART 7: How is a decision 
made on my application?

When processing your request, the PIO will need to determine immediately whether the 
information you have requested:

(a)	 Is available in the office, and if not, transfer it to another public authority and 
provide you with written notice of the transfer;

(b)	 Relates to confidential third party information and therefore requires consultation 
with the third party before a decision can be made; and

(c)	 Is covered by an exemption and whether there is a public interest in disclosing it.

What if the information involves a “Third Party”?

Usually, people make applications for information created by the government which 
relates to the public authority receiving the application. In such cases, there are only 
two parties involved in the request process - the requester and the public authority. 
However, sometimes requesters will ask for information which also affects a third party. 
For example, if you want to have a look at the tender submitted by a rival company or 
a letter to your MP from your work colleague, the company and your colleague are a 
“third party”.

Sometimes - but not always - the RTI Act requires that third parties are consulted about 
applications. A third party only needs to be consulted if:
	 the PIO is considering releasing the information; AND
	 the information relates to the third party or was given to the public authority 

by the third party “in confidence”; AND
	 the third party treated the information as confidential. 

This last requirement is key. While a lot of information might relate to third parties, 
there are only a small number of cases where the third party would have treated the 
information as confidential. Information like lists of recipients of subsidies or permits, 
submissions to committees or government contracts, although involving third parties, do 
not involve confidential third party information and do not therefore require consultation 
with the third party.

Where the 3-part test above is satisfied, the third party has the right to be consulted 
about whether the information should be released. The PIO needs to send a written 
notice within 5 days inviting the third party to make a submission regarding disclosure.40  

40 Section 11(1).
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The third party has 10 days from the date the notice is received to make a submission.41 

Whether or not a response is received, the PIO has to make a decision about whether or 
not to disclose the information within 40 days of receipt of the application.42 Before making 
a decision, the PIO must take into account any representation by a third party. However, 
even if the third party objects, the PIO must still release the information if no exemption 
applies. In such a case, the third party can appeal the decision to the departmental 
Appellate Authority and/or Information Commission (see Part 8 for more details).

What if the PIO approves my application?

If the PIO decides to give you the information, the PIO will send you a decision notice 
within 30 days. The notice will include advice regarding any additional fees payable to 
actually access the information you have requested and inform you of your right to appeal 
the decision about the amount of fee charged or the form in which you want to access the 
information, including details of the Appellate Authority, time limit and any other forms.43  
Note that if the PIO fails to meet the time limits prescribed under the RTI Act, then the 
information has to be provided free of cost to you.44

The Central and State Governments have all prescribed different additional fees for access 
(see Annex 3 for details). The notice sent by the PIO needs to include an explanation of 
how any additional fees were calculated.45 For example, if you have requested information 
that totals 1,000 A4 pages and the cost prescribed for providing A4 size paper is Rs 2 per 
page, then the PIO will need to show that the total cost would be: 1,000 X 2 = Rs 2,000. 
The PIO does not have the power to charge you additional fees for searching, collecting 
or processing the information.

In the decision notice you are sent, the PIO will ask you to deposit the calculated fee so 
that the information can be dispatched to you. In some states, such as Maharashtra, the 
cost of sending the information by post is included in the fee calculation.46 

The RTI Rules notified by the Central Government in 2012 (Annex 2) require PIOs to collect 
from an applicant postal charges that are in excess of Rs. 50. If the postal charges are 
below Rs. 50 the Central Government will have to bear that expenditure.

41 Section 11(2).
42 Section 11(3).
43 Section 7(3).
44 Section 7(6).
45 Section 7(3)(a).
46 Section 4, Maharashtra Right to Information Rules 2005.
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However, there is nothing to stop you from collecting the information in person if that is 
possible. Remember that you also have the right to inspect the information - for a fee (eg. 
Rs 5 per hour under the Central Government Fee Rules47) - before you request copies of 
any documents. Inspecting documents could cut down on costs because you can use the 
inspection time to decide which documents you really need. The intervening time between 
sending the notice and the payment of additional fees is excluded from the 30 day time 
limit for providing information.48 

Unfortunately, some state governments have levied exorbitant additional fees. If you feel 
that the additional fees for information are too high, you can appeal to the departmental 
Appellate Authority or complain to the concerned Information Commission (see Part 8 
for details). If the PIO charges you money for giving the information despite the fact that 
you provided proof of your BPL status, you also have the right to send a complaint to the 
concerned Information Commission. 

No bar on voluminous requests for information49 

The RTI Act specifically provides that information has to be provided in the form that you 
request, UNLESS it would disproportionately divert the resources of the public authority 
or is likely to damage the record.50 Unfortunately, some departments have been using 
this provision to deny citizens access to information.  This issue was the subject of a 
complaint filed with the Central Information Commission (CIC). Mr Sarbajit Roy applied 
to the Delhi Development Authority (DDA) for information relating to the modification 
of the Master Plan of Delhi. In particular, he requested access to the responses the 
Board of Enquiry and Hearing had received from the public on the draft Master Plan. 
The DDA refused to part with the information on several grounds, including that giving 
the information would disproportionately divert the resources of the DDA. After hearing 
from both Mr Roy and the DDA, the CIC stated that the Act does not authorise a public 
authority to deny information if it is voluminous. It simply allows the authority to provide 
the information in a form which is easy to access. The CIC has directed the DDA to 
provide Mr Roy with an opportunity to examine the responses and give him certified 
copies of those identified by him.

47 Section 2, Right to Information (Amendment) Rules 2012.
48 Section 7(3)(a).
49 Central Information Commission (2006) Appeal No. 10/1/2005-CIC, 25 February: www.cic.gov.in as on 
20 March 2006.
50 Section 7(9).
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What if the PIO rejects my application?

The PIO can only reject your application if the information you have requested falls under 
one of the exemptions in the Act (see Part 4 for details) and the PIO additionally decides 
that there is no overriding public interest in releasing the information. No other reason is 
valid under the RTI Act for justifying why an information request was refused. For example, 
it is not enough that the information might embarrass the government or an official or that 
you have not provided a good enough reason for wanting the information. You now have 
a legal right to information - and officials are the ones who must justify continued secrecy.

Applying the “public interest override” to exemptions

Section 8(2) of the Act requires that even where an exemption applies to an application 
for information, a public body may release the information if the public interest in 
disclosure outweighs the interest protected by the exemption. The term “public interest” 
is not defined anywhere in the Act. This makes sense because what is in the public 
interest will change over time and will also depend on the particular circumstances of 
each case. Because of this, public authorities - more specifically, PIOs and departmental 
Appellate Authorities - as well as Information Commissions will need to consider each 
case on its individual merits. They need to decide whether any exemption applies and 
if so, whether it is overridden by more important public interest considerations, such as 
the need to promote public accountability, the imperative to protect human rights, or 
the fact that disclosure will expose an environmental or health and safety risk.

The PIO has to give you written notice of his/her decision to reject your request within the 
30 day time limit.51 The decision notice must state:

(a)	 The reasons for the rejection, which should include information regarding the 
exemption being relied upon and any relevant facts considered by the PIO in 
arriving at the decision;

(b)	 The period within which you can appeal the decision;
(c)	 The name and contact details of the Appellate Authority to whom you can make 

an appeal.

If the PIO fails to give you a decision notice, then this is regarded as a “deemed refusal”.52 

You may then appeal to the departmental Appellate Authority or send a complaint to the 
concerned Information Commission (see Part 8 for details). 

51 Section 7(8).
52 Section 7(2).
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You can have information “partially disclosed” to you53

Sometimes one document will contain both some sensitive information which falls 
under an exemption, and some information which could be disclosed without causing 
any harm. In such cases, access to the information which is not sensitive can still be 
provided. This is known as “partial disclosure”. In practice, this means the PIO will often 
black out portions of a document - certain lines or paragraphs - or will disclose some 
documents requested but not others. If a PIO decides to partially disclose information, 
he/she has to notify you that you will only be getting partial disclosure of the information 
you asked for, the reasons for the decision, the details of who made the decision, the 
fees to be paid, and your right to get the decision reviewed.

53 Section 10.
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PART 8: What if I do not get the 
information I requested?

Unfortunately, with secrecy still very much the norm in the bureaucracy, PIOs today     frequently 
reject RTI applications on flimsy grounds. For example, PIOs have                   rejected 
applications because the information was not under their control even though they have a 
duty to transfer the application in such cases, they have often applied exemptions wrongly 
and some have even refused to accept applications because the PIO is not available in 
the office or is on leave. 

In anticipation of non-compliance, the RTI Act sets in place appeals and complaints 
procedures which provide requesters with cheap, simple options for taking issue with 
decisions or poor performance of public authorities and government officials under the 
Act. Requesters can make appeals to a s enior officer within the concerned department 
(referred to as the Appellate Authority) or they can complain to one of the new Information 
Commissions, which are to be set up at the Centre and in all the States.

Appeals vs Complaints – what is the difference?

If a PIO rejects your RTI application entirely or provides access only to a part of the 
information you seek, you may file an APPEAL to the Appellate Authority designated in 
that public authority. The Appellate Authority is an officer senior in rank to the PIO. After 
hearing from you and the PIO, the Appellate Authority has to determine whether the PIO 
made a correct decision on your application. If the Appellate Authority’s order does not 
satisfy you, you can file a second appeal before the relevant Information Commission.

A COMPLAINT may be made to the Information Commission if your grievance is about 
any other matter, for example, non-appointment of a PIO in a public authority, refusal of 
the APIO to receive your application and forward it to the PIO, charging unreasonable 
fees, providing incomplete, false or misleading information, destroying a record which 
was the subject of your request or any other matter relating to seeking and receiving 
information under the RTI Act. In all such instances you may directly file a complaint 
before the relevant Information Commission. After inquiring into the complaint, the 
Information Commission may give appropriate directions to the public authority and 
impose a fine on the PIO or the APIO who deserves to be penalised.
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Option 1 - Make an appeal

The appeals process falls under section 19 of the Act and envisages a two-step process: 
firstly, an appeal to the Appellate Authority and secondly, an appeal to one of the newly 
established Information Commissions. The appeals process is supposed to be a quicker, 
cheaper way of enabling requesters to get a decision reviewed, as opposed to going to 
the courts.

First appeal to the Appellate Authority
In every public authority, an officer who is senior in rank to the PIO has been designated 
to hear appeals. He/she is referred to as the Appellate Authority. The original decision or 
rejection notice you receive from the PIO should include contact details for the relevant 
Appellate Authority so that you know to whom you can go to get the decision reviewed. If 
the notice is deficient, you may want to check the website of the public authority or contact 
the PIO directly and ask for the Appellate Authority’s details. 

You can make an appeal to the Appellate Authority if:
(a)	 you are aggrieved by the decision made; 
(b)	 no decision was made within the proper time limits;
(c)	 you are a third party consulted during the application process and you are 

unhappy with the decision made by the PIO.

You need to send your appeal to the Appellate Authority within 30 days from the date on 
which you received the decision (or you should have received a decision) from the PIO. 
However, if you miss that deadline but the Appellate Authority feels that you have been 
prevented from making an appeal within this time limit for justifiable reasons, he/she may 
allow you to submit an appeal even after the 30 days have expired.54

You need to send your appeal to the concerned Appellate Authority in writing.  Some state 
governments have prescribed forms for filing appeals. You should check with the concerned 
Appellate Authority to see if your state has prescribed such a form.  You can file appeals 
directly by handing them over in person or by sending them by post/courier. Additionally, 
you can also send the appeal to the APIO in the relevant public authority who then has a 
duty to forward it to the relevant Appellate Authority.55

54 Section 19(1).
55 Section 5(2).
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Minimum contents of a second appeal made to the 
Central Information Commission*

FORMAT OF APPEAL
(See Rule 8)

1.	 Name and address of the appellant
2.	 Name and address of the CPIO to whom the application was addressed
3.	 Name and address of the CPIO who gave reply to the Application
4.	 Name and address of the First Appellate Authority who decided the First Appeal
5.	 Particulars of the application
6.	 Particulars of the order(s) including number, if any, against which the appeal is 

preferred
7.	 Brief facts leading to the appeal
8.	 Prayer or relief sought
9.	 Grounds for the prayer or relief
10.	 Any other information relevant to the appeal
11.	 Verification/authentication by the appellant

* State Governments may have prescribed other formats for filing second appeals before the State Information 
Commissions. CHRI recommends that you check the relevant RTI Rules or confirm with the Information Commission 
concerned, what details and documents you should include in your appeal.

The RTI Act does not permit any fee being levied on an applicant for filing an appeal 
to an Appellate Authority (or the Information Commissions). Unfortunately, some state 
governments, like Maharashtra56 and Madhya Pradesh57, have prescribed rules which 
impose an appeal fee. It is not legal to impose an appeal fee or reject an appeal because 
of non-payment. If your state government has prescribed an appeal fee, you can either 
move the relevant Information Commission or your High Court to consider the matter or 
attempt to bring up the issue before your State Legislative Assembly for debate.

Ordinarily after receiving your appeal, the Appellate Authority is required to give his/her 
decision within 30 days. This time limit is extendable, but the maximum time limit for a 
decision from the Appellate Authority is 45 days. If additional time is taken over and above 
the 30 day time limit, the Appellate Authority has to record the reasons for the extension 
in writing and provide those reasons to you when issuing his/her final order. 58

56 Section 5, Maharashtra Right to Information Rules 2005.
57 Sections 7 and 8, Madhya Pradesh Right to Information (Fees and Appeal) Rules 2005.
58 Section 19(6).
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How are appeals usually handled by Appellate Authorities?

The RTI Act does not prescribe a procedure that Appellate Authorities should follow when 
deciding appeals. In general, however, appeals proceedings should not be adversarial but 
should be a search for the truth, to simply find out whether the Act was applied properly. In 
any appeal, it is the PIO who has to prove that the rejection of an application was justified.  
This means that in any hearing, the PIO should first be asked to explain themselves. Only 
if they make a defensible case should you be called on to explain why you think they are 
wrong. In any case, the Appellate Authority needs to apply his/her mind to consider all 
the facts again and decide whether the action of the PIO was correct. All parties involved 
- you, the PIO and any third party who was consulted about the disclosure - have the 
right to be heard before any decision is made.

If the Appellate Authority accepts your appeal and decides that the information should be 
given to you, then he/she should inform you and the public authority of the decision in 
writing. If the Appellate Authority rejects your appeal, the notice of the decision to you must 
include details of your right to appeal to either the Central or State Information Commission. 

Notably, the RTI Act does not give Appellate Authorities the power to impose penalties on 
officials, even where non-compliance with the RTI Act has been proven. Only Information 
Commissions have the power to impose penalties. This means that even if the Appellate 
Authority decides in your favour, you still may want to ask the Appellate Authority to refer 
the case to the Information Commission on the issue of penalties. Alternatively, you may 
want to make a complaint to the Information Commission (see pg 35 for details) on the 
issue of penalties alone.

Second appeal to the Information Commission
If you are dissatisfied with the decision of the Appellate Authority, the RTI Act provides you 
with the option of filing a second appeal before the relevant Information Commission 
within 90 days of receiving that decision. Appeals against public authorities under the 
Central Government must be filed before the Central Information Commission. Appeals 
against public authorities under a State Government must be filed before the Information 
Commission of that State. You may file a second appeal before the relevant Information 
Commission even if the Appellate Authority does not pass an order on your first appeal 
within the time limit of 45 days. You must file the second appeal within 90 days of lapse of 
that time limit. The Information Commission has the discretion to admit appeals received 
after the 90-day period if there is reasonable cause for delay.

59 Section 19(3).
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Information Commissions - Champions of Openness

At the Central and State Government levels, independent and autonomous Information 
Commissions are required to be set up under the RTI Act.60 These Commissions 
comprising of one or more numbers have been set up at the Centre and in all the 
States. (see Annex 4 for more details). The Commissions have a number of key roles 
to play in ensuring that the RTI Act is an effective tool in assisting the public to access 
information. Specifically, every Information Commission is responsible for:

	 Handling complaints and appeals: All citizens have the right to appeal or 
complain to the Information Commission if their information needs under the 
Act have not been fulfilled. In reviewing decisions, the Information Commissions 
have broad investigation powers - including the right to see any document, even 
if an exemption has been claimed. They also have strong and binding powers 
to require public authorities to comply with the Act; these include ordering 
release of information, appointment of PIOs, improvement of records systems, 
provision of compensation and the imposition of fines.61

	 Monitoring implementation: At the end of each year, the Central and State 
Information Commissions have to produce an annual report which is tabled 
in Parliament/State Legislature, as the case may be. Each report has to include 
basic application and appeal statistics as well as comment on implementation 
efforts and recommendations for improvements. The Commission’s annual 
reports are based on monitoring information submitted by each public authority 
under the Commission’s jurisdiction. 62 

	 Special human rights oversight: Some intelligence and security agencies have 
been exempted from the Act, except where they are requested for information in 
respect of an allegation of corruption or a human rights violation. Information  
Commissions must deal with all such requests related to human rights violations.

The Commissions that have been set up so far are still working out their mandate. They 
have a crucial role to play in ensuring the RTI Act is implemented effectively and as 
such, the public needs to be vigilant to ensure that they are working effectively.

60 Chapters III and IV.
61 Section 19(8) and Section 20.
62 Section 25.
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You must send your appeal to the relevant Information Commission in writing. Second appeals 
to the Central Information Commission may be filed online through its dedicated website 
(http://rti.india.gov.in/rti_second_appeal_lodging.php) The Central and the State Govern-
ments have issued Rules about what information needs to be included in a second appeal 
sent to the Information Commissions. In addition to describing all facts of your case you 
should attach supporting documents, including: self-attested copies of the orders/decision 
notices against which the appeal is being filed and copies of any additional documents that 
you may rely upon for supporting your case (see page 30 for the format of second appeal 
to be used before the Central Information Commission). Some Information Commissions 
are empowered to return incomplete second appeals to the appellant. So make sure that 
you complete all requirements such as using second appeal formats, where prescribed, 
and attaching self-attested copies of all relevant orders and documents.

The Central and State Information Commissions manage appeals in accordance with 
procedures prescribed under the relevant Appeal Rules. Commissions have the power to take 
oral or written evidence on oath/affidavit; inspect documents or copies; hear and receive 
affidavits from the PIO against whom the appeal has been made and/or the Appellate 
Authority who has decided the first appeal; and to hear from you.63 If the decision of a 
PIO or Appellate Authority relates to a third party, then that third party also has the right 
to be heard by the Information Commission before it makes a decision.64 

Burden of proof65

In any appeals proceeding, the burden of proof that the denial of a request was justified 
lies on the person who wants to keep the information secret - the PIO or a third party. 
In practice, this means that you should only need to interact with the Commission after 
the person who wants to withhold the information has first been questioned, because 
they are the ones who have to show the Commission that they are right. If a hearing 
is then organised, the PIO or third party arguing for secrecy needs to be called on to 
make their case first. You will only need to make a case if the Commission thinks the 
PIO or third party has a point worth considering. At that stage, you then need to argue 
in favour of disclosure.

63 Section 18(3).
64 Section 19(4).
65 Section 19(5).
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Information Commissions are not meant to function like a court. Appeals proceedings 
are meant to be informal and non-confrontational. Information Commissions have a duty 
to send you, well in advance, a notice of any hearing scheduled in your second appeal 
matter. You are free to choose to attend the hearing or send an authorised representative 
to argue your case before the Commission. Your representative need not necessarily be 
a lawyer. Instead you could request any person knowledgeable about the RTI Act to assist 
you or represent you during a hearing. Hearings are usually held face-to-face with all 
parties present at the office of the Information Commission. However if you are unable to 
attend the hearing in person, you may request that the hearing be conducted through video 
conferencing, if such facilities are available at the Information Commission’s office and in 
your town or city also. Information Commissions prefer to dispose of second appeals in 
a single hearing unless you or the public authority seeks postponement of the hearing for 
genuine and credible reasons.

The RTI Act does not prescribe a time limit for Information Commissions to decide second 
appeals. With the exception of Madhya Pradesh, none of the Information Commissions 
have deadlines for the disposal of second appeals. The Madhya Pradesh Information 
Commission is required to decide second appeals within 180 days. Many Information 
Commissions take several months to decide second appeals because they are burdened 
with a large number of pending cases.

If an Information Commission decides that your appeal is justified, the Commission will need 
to give you a written decision. The Information Commission has broad and binding powers to:

(a)	 order the public authority to take concrete steps towards meeting its duties under 
the RTI Act, for example, by providing access to the information you requested 
or by reducing the amount of fees you need to pay;67

(b)	 order the public authority to compensate you for any loss you may have suffered 
in the process;68  

(c)	 impose penalties on the PIO or any other official who failed in their duties under the Act.69

If the Information Commission decides that your case is groundless, it will reject your 
appeal.70 In either case, the Commission must give notice of its decision to you and the 
public authority, which should include any right of appeal.71

66 Section 18(3).
67 Section 19(8)(a)(i),(ii),(iii).
68 Section 19(8)(b).
69 Section 20.
70 Section 19(8)(d).
71 Section 19(9).
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Option 2 - Make a complaint
In addition to the appeals route you have the option of sending a complaint to the Infor-
mation Commission directly under Section 18(1) of the Act, if you are not satisfied with 
the decision of the PIO or if you think a public authority is failing to comply with its duties 
under the Act. This is a particularly useful route if you wish to seek a penalty for the PIO 
who violated the provisions of the Act while dealing with your RTI application. So even after 
you receive the information on the orders of the Appellate Authority, you may demand that 
the PIO be penalized for contravening the law. You can do this by sending a complaint to 
the concerned Information Commission. The Appellate Authority cannot penalize a PIO; 
only Information Commissions have the power to impose penalties.

You can file a complaint72 if you have any trouble in accessing information under the RTI 
Act, for example if:

(a)	 you have not been able to submit an application either because a PIO has not 
been appointed in a particular department to accept your application or an 
APIO has refused to accept your application; 

(b)	 you have been refused access to any information requested; 
(c)	 you do not get a response to your request or access to the information you 

requested within the specified time limit;
(d)	 you have been asked to pay fees which you think are unreasonable;
(e)	 you believe the information you have been given is incomplete, misleading or false;
(f)	 you face any other problem related to accessing information under the RTI Act.

This last provision is purposely broad to allow you to complain to the Information 
Commission in relation to ANY problems that prevent you from effectively accessing 
information, even those not mentioned specifically under the RTI Act. These include, for 
example, failure by a public authority to - implement proactive disclosure requirements 
properly, appoint PIOs, provide proper training to officials or failure by the government to 
produce the User’s Guide required under the Act.

Apart from imposing penalties or recommending disciplinary action against a PIO, the 
Information Commissions can give recommendations to public authorities to improve 
compliance with the provisions of the Act. In a 2011 decision the Supreme Court of 
India has held that under the complaints procedure, an Information Commission does 
not have the power to order a public authority to disclose information (Chief Information 
Commissioner and Anr. V State of Manipur and Anr. AIR 2012 SC864). An order for 
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disclosure of information may be made only under the appeals procedure explained in 
Section 19 of the Act. So if a PIO has rejected your application, it is advisable to file a first 
appeal before the Appellate Authority. If the Appellate Authority upholds the PIO’s decision 
of rejection, or if you are not satisfied with that Authority’s decision for any other reason, 
you may file a second appeal before the relevant Information Commission. In such cases 
it is not advisable to rush to the Information Commission with a complaint bypassing the 
appeals procedure.

Whether the Information Commissions are hearing an appeal or a complaint, they have the 
same investigative and decision-making powers (see pages 31-34 in relation to appeals 
to Information Commissions for details). In summary, the Information Commissions have 
broad investigative powers because they have the same powers as a civil court.73 The RTI 
Act currently contains no time limit for disposal of appeals by the Information Commission. 
If after inquiring into the second appeal, the Information Commission decides that your 
plea is justified, it may issue binding orders requiring the public authority to take necessary 
steps to redress your grievance. The Information Commission has very broad powers 
to compel the public authority to comply with the provisions of the Act, for example, by 
ordering release of the information you requested, appointing PIOs to receive and process 
RTI applications or directing that more categories of information be disclosed proactively. 
The Information Commission can also require the public authority to compensate you for 
any loss or detriment suffered because of rejection of the request for information and can 
impose a penalty on non-compliant officials.74 Alternatively, if the Information Commission 
finds that your second appeal or complaint is not justified it can reject it. In such a case 
you may file a writ petition before the concerned High Court seeking judicial review of 
that decision.

Information Commissions have the power to impose penalties

Information Commissions alone - and not Appellate Authorities - have the power to 
recommend disciplinary action75 and impose monetary penalties76 of Rs 250 per day 
up to a maximum of Rs 25,000 on officials who are found to have:

- 	 refused to receive an application;
- 	 failed to provide information within the time limits specified in the Act;

73 Section 18(3)
74 Section 19(8) and Section 20.
75 Section 20(2).
76 Section 20(1).
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- 	 malafidely denied a request for information;
- 	 knowingly given incorrect, incomplete or misleading information; 
- 	 destroyed information which was the subject of a request; or
- 	 obstructed in any manner the furnishing of information.

Before a penalty can be imposed, an official must be given an opportunity to be heard. 
The official has to prove to the Information Commission that he/she acted reasonably 
and diligently.

Option 3: Appeal to the courts

The RTI Act specifically bars courts from entertaining any suit or proceeding before a 
petitioner exhausts all remedies (appeals and complaint procedures) available under the 
RTI Act. Ordinarily, no court can interfere in any appeal or complaint proceeding pending 
before the Information Commission. If you are faced with a situation where you are not 
satisfied with the decision of the Information Commission, you may file a writ petition 
before a High Court. Under Article 226 of the Constitution of India, High Courts have the 
power to undertake a judicial review of decisions made by any statutory authority including 
Information Commissions. Theoretically, you may also move the Supreme Court against a 
decision of an Information Commission because RTI is a fundamental right. Under Article 
32 of the Constitution any person may move the Supreme Court of India to entertain a 
petition about violation of a fundamental right. However, in practice it is advisable to 
approach the Supreme Court after exhausting the option of moving the relevant High 
Court. Decisions of Information Commissions cannot be challenged before lower courts.

77 Section 23.
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PIO sends you a rejection 
notice. 

Flow Chart 2: Appeals & Complaint Process

Appeal to Appellate Authority 
(AA) within the public authority 
within 30 days if you are:

-	Aggrieved by the decision 
notice; or

-	No decision was made 
w i t h i n  30  day s  (o r 
extended period).

Direct complaint to Central or 
State Information Commission 
(IC). If you face any problem 
in accessing information 
because:

-	N o  P I O  h a s  b e e n 
appointed;

-	 PIO refuses to accept your 
application;

-	You are refused access;
-	Yo u  a r e  c h a r g e d 

unreasonable fees;
-	You have been given false 

information;
-	ANY other matter re 

accessing information.

No t ime l imit  for f i l ing 
complaints.

AA to dispose of appeal within 
30 – 45 days.

AA accepts appeal. 
Written notice to be 
given. Information 
to be provided as 
soon as possible.

AA rejects appeal. 
Written notice  to 
be given including 
your right to appeal 
to the Central or 
State IC.

IC reviews documents, PIO 
to justify non-disclosure. You 
and any third parties involved 
have a right to be heard. No 
time limit for decision.

IC allows the appeal
-	notifies the requestor;
-	o r d e r s  r e l e a s e  o f 

information;
-	orders public authority to 

comply with RTI Act;
-	orders compensation.

IC imposes penalty 
on PIO and / or
recommends 
disciplinary action 
against the PIO.

IC re jec t s  the  appeal/ 
complaint and gives you 
notice of the decision.

Judicial Review
RTI is a fundamental right.  
Therefore you can file a writ in 
the appropriate High Court.
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PART 9: How can I help promote
the Right to Information?

The RTI Act sets out a legal framework for accessing information, but the key to the 
law’s practical success as a tool for good governance lies in your hands. Citizens have 
a fundamental duty to use the RTI Act to ensure that public authorities across the country 
are meeting their obligations and fulfilling their duties to develop a strong and pro-citizen 
access to information regime. The right to information can become a powerful and living 
right with your help.

Requesting information

To make sure that the RTI Act is effective as a tool for curbing corruption and improving 
government service-delivery, people have to use it to apply for information from the 
government.  This is one of the surest ways of getting the government accountable and 
answerable to the people.

Already, individuals and civil society groups have begun using the RTI Act to expose massive 
corruption and mismanagement in government, to ensure that government schemes and 
plans are being properly implemented, to demand accountability in government and above 
all to demand a say in how policies are being designed and implemented across the country.

Monitoring the government

Applying and getting the information you want is only a first step. What you do with the 
information you get is just as important. For example, if the information you have reveals 
evidence of misconduct, corruption or misadministration, it is essential that you take 
the matter up with higher authorities - whether this be an Information Commission, the 
police, the courts or an anti-corruption agency - and ensure that it becomes a matter of 
public knowledge. In fact, even the RTI Act itself needs to be monitored in this way. You 
can monitor its implementation to assess whether officers in public authorities are making 
efforts to comply with the law and the government is meeting its obligations to publish 
information, appoint PIOs and provide access in a timely manner. Based on your findings, 
you can lobby and advocate with the government to improve its efforts at implementation.

Promoting the Right
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Getting into the Act: RTI activist exposes corruption in government78

Since January 2004, the Madhya Pradesh Government has been running the Indus 
Child Labor Project in five districts, funded by the International Labour Organization 
(ILO). The Indus Project is aimed at providing primary education to child labourers. 
It is implemented through a registered society, the National Child Labour Project 
(NCLP), which receives monies from the ILO through the State Government and makes 
disbursements. The District Collector is the President of NCLP and the District Labour 
Officer is its Secretary. In addition, five Project Directors have been appointed to oversee 
the execution of the project. Big money is at stake - in Katni district alone, a sum of Rs 
31,80,750 has been earmarked for the execution of the Indus Project.

Since its inception, the Project has been dogged by rumours of corruption. In December 
2005, an RTI activist in Katni filed an application with the PIO of the Indus Project, 
asking for: the number of first aid kits bought for Teaching Centres being run under the 
Project in Katni; the rate at which the kits were bought; an inventory of the contents of 
the kit; and a copy of the Project’s proactive disclosure statement.

The PIO responded to say that 40 first aid kits had been bought at the rate of Rs 3,500 
per kit. Seeking out the prevalent market rates from local distributors of companies 
producing similar first aid kits, the requester found rates ranged from Rs 760  to the 
high quote of Rs 970. The requestor realised that the Project had purchased the kits far 
above even the most expensive quote in the market. The implementing agency spent 
Rs 1,40,000 for buying 40 kits at the rate Rs 3,500 per kit. Had the agency bought 
the kits from the open market from the most expensive distributor - quoting a rate of 
Rs 970 per kit, it would have spent only Rs 38,800.

Armed with this information, the activist visited 10 Teaching Centres to examine the 
kits only to find that none of the kits displayed any company logo. In three centres, the 
kits were found to be empty and the contents of seven kits in other centres were of a 
cheaper quality than mentioned in the quality specifications. This scandal has been 
highlighted in the local newspapers. The district administration conducted an inquiry 
and ordered the supplier to refund Rs. 80,000/- to the rchequer RTI can be used as 
an effective tool to mantion spending of the tax payer’s money.

78 MP Soochana Adhikar Abhiyan (2006).
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Educating and advising others
Today, across the country, few are aware that such an empowering law has come into 
force and is accessible to them. The Central and State Governments are responsible for 
spreading awareness and education on the RTI Act amongst the public, but their efforts 
have been slow. It is the duty of all citizens of India to ensure that the message of RTI 
is spread far and wide across the country in as many languages and through as many 
mediums as possible. If you have used the RTI Act - irrespective of whether your efforts 
have been successful or unsuccessful - you should consider making your experience public 
knowledge by writing an article for the papers or publishing your case study on the internet 
or simply by talking about it with your friends and colleagues. You can also help people 
to make similar requests for information by teaching them how to ask, write and submit 
an application. Your experience in using the RTI Act can serve as a source of inspiration 
to others and sharing it is vital to ensuring that the RTI Act is successfully entrenched in the 
hearts and minds of the public. 

Look what is happening in Mumbai’s prisons79

In Maharashtra, there were regular updates in the media about inmates in Mumbai’s 
Arthur Road Jail being allowed to use their mobile phones to extort money and conduct 
illegal and potentially dangerous activities. In October 2001, the Inspector General 
of Prisons proposed the installation of jammers in the jail at the cost of Rs 6,01,736 
to prevent the use of mobile phones.  Over the next four years, the proposal no action 
was taken on the proposal and the use of mobile phones continued. 

On 20 December 2005, Shailesh Gandhi made an application under the RTI Act asking 
for details of the movement of the papers in the case.  Within 6 days of his request, on 
26 December 2005, the Inspector General of Prisons was asked to place an order for 
the jammers. On 10 January 2006, less than a month after Shailesh Gandhi’s initial 
request, the jammers were finally installed in the prison at the cost of Rs 7 lakh. 

What the government could not or would not do in four years, the RTI Act accomplished 
in days. Monitoring the government and exposing poor performance through the Act 
can be very effective in turning bureaucratic words into official action.

79 Shailesh Gandhi (2006).
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Indian Express reveals Employment Guarantee Scheme scam80

Thane district in Maharashtra is home to some of the poorest and underdeveloped 
talukas in the State. In Jawhar and Mokhada talukas, up to 75 per cent of families 
live well below the poverty line. The Maharashtra Employment Guarantee Scheme 
(MEGS) was developed with the aim of providing gainful employment to people living 
in such areas. Recent use of the RTI Act to get information on how the scheme is being 
implemented shows that the system is rife with corruption.

The Indian Express applied under the RTI Act for copies of the muster rolls from the 
Thane Public Works Department (PWD). The Indian Express was particularly interested 
in the muster roll detailing the work done on building the Bopdari-Chandoshi approach 
road in the district. The road was meant to act as a lifeline to the area’s poorest villages 
under the MEGS. The muster roll showed that a villager, Ganga Ghatal of Bopdari, 
had been paid Rs 961 for 11 days of excavating the road, certified by his fingerprint 
on the muster roll. Armed with the muster roll, the newspaper went to Bopdari only to 
find that Ganga Ghatal had committed suicide in 2004 and neither he nor his family 
had received any money. Ganga Ghatal was one amongst a large number of deceased 
individuals still shown as receiving payments under the EGS. The muster rolls revealed 
several other ghost entries including the names of government officers as beneficiaries. 
Faced with this evidence, the State EGS Minister was forced to look into the matter.

Joining the RTI movement

Across the country, there are many activists and civil society groups working to promote the 
right to information. These groups are actively finding ways of making this right accessible 
to men, women and marginalised communities across India with remarkable results and 
success stories. In addition, there are also a number of online discussion forums and local 
groups which are closely involved in monitoring the application and implementation of 
the RTI Act. You may want to join one of these groups and/or an organisation working in 
your State on the right to information. You could even set up a discussion group of your 
own (see Annex 5 for details of some groups working on RTI). 

80 Chitrangada Choudhury (2006) “In Model Maharashtra the Dead are Paid to Siphon off Job Funds”, The 
Indian Express, 12 January: http://www.indianexpress.com/full_story.php?content_id=85784 as on 20 March 
2006.
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Getting involved with the RTI implementation campaign

Many groups are networking throughout the country to consolidate the gains already 
made and to continue building pressure on the government to implement the RTI Act 
properly. For example, the National Campaign for People’s Right to Information (NCPRI) 
was set up in 1996 with the prime objective of carrying out advocacy on the right to 
information at the national level. They lobbied to get the RTI Act passed and now focus 
on improving implementation. In addition, there are a number of online discussion 
groups where activists across the country can discuss and share their experiences. For 
example, in Maharashtra, right to information supporters set up the web based discussion 
group Mahadhikar (now Hum Janenge) to serve as a platform for sharing experiences, 
discussing problems, and devising strategies for tackling deficiencies in the law and its 
implementation, and coordinating activities to promote the right to information. Similarly, 
in Karnataka, advocates set up the KRIA KATTE discussion board. These on-line forums 
have been a very useful way for drawing people together from diverse backgrounds 
and locations to pursue a united campaign.
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81 Kaushik Basu, ‘India’s Faltering  Education System, BBC News, 18th August, 2006: 
http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/south_asia/4793311.stm as on 20 September, 2007 and Victoria A Velkoff, 
‘Womens ’ Education in India ’, October 1998: .http://www.census.gov/ipc/prod/wid-9801.pdf   as on 
20 September, 2007

Government Paid Rs. 10 Lakhs to a Teacher who had no work

In India, access to higher education is a luxury that few can afford. While 25 lakh 
graduates pass out of the 300 universities and 15,600 colleges every year, less than 
5% of the population has access to higher education.81 Primary education has been 
made compulsory and free in state run schools but anybody may opt for secondary and 
tertiary education on a voluntary basis. Barring a few elite and privately run institutions, 
higher education is subsidised by the government at the Central and State level. In 
many states the government provides funds to cover the salary of teachers in private 
institutions as well. However it is not uncommon to find teachers continuing to be on 
the pay rolls while there are no takers for their courses. One such case came to light 
in Karnataka through the use of the RTI Act. 

Mr. G.G. Hegde Kadekodi filed an RTI application in November 2006 with the M.M. 
Arts & Science College, Sirsi, Karnataka seeking details about the lecturer appointed 
for teaching Geology; the number of students enrolled for that course and the salary 
being paid to that lecturer. The reply revealed that the lecturer was drawing a salary of 
Rs.27, 490/- every month but did not have any student to teach.  Nobody had enrolled 
for the Geology course for more than three years. Mr. Hegde’s RTI intervention also 
brought to light the fret that the College had been writing to the State Government 
seeking transfer of the lecturer to any other college where students had opted for a 
similar course. The Joint Director of Education wrote to the Directorate of Collegiate 
Education admitting the fact that the lecturer was being paid salary even though he 
had no work. The public exchequer was poorer by Rs.10 lakhs because of the delay 
in transferring him to another college. The Directorate informed Mr.Hegde in March 
2007 that the lecturer had been transferred to a college in Tumkur where a similar 
course had been opted for by students.
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Fixing accountability - as important as problem solving

In our country it is difficult for the common person to hold officers accountable for 
either shirking work or playing the game of pass the buck. Although grievance redressal 
systems exist on paper they are not always effective in providing justice to people 
aggrieved by lack of or poor service delivery. As this story shows, RTI can be used to 
redress grievances successfully.

In September 1989, Sukhlal of Ramnagar in Anuppur district, Madhya Pradesh bought 
an insurance policy worth Rs. 25,000/- from the Life Insurance Corporation of India 
(LIC). The policy was to mature in 2004; his wife Smt. Rambai was the nominee and 
the premiums were paid regularly. Sukhlal was killed in a road accident in January 
2004, a mere 8 months before the insurance policy was to mature. The grieving widow 
informed the LIC office of the accidental death and claimed the insurance amount that 
was due to her. On 30th September the LIC office sent a cheque for Rs. 25,000/- in the 
name of the late Sukhlal and washed its hands off the case. However under the terms 
of the policy his wife was entitled to receive double benefit if the insured person died 
in accident. She should have been paid Rs. 50,000/- and the cheque should have 
been drawn in her favour. So Smt. Rambai returned the cheque with a request that the 
full amount be paid as per the terms of the policy agreement. 
 
For two years Smt. Rambai was made to run from pillar to post claim. Fed up with this 
‘kind’ treatment for two and a half years, Smt. Rambai contacted Mr. Sunil Chaurasia 
- the Chairperson of the District Consumer Forum in Anuppur.82 When Mr. Chaurasia 
called up the LIC Branch office enquiring about her case he was assured that the claim 
would be settled soon. Still there was no sign of the money. On 31st May, 2006 Mr. 
Chaurasia sent a written complaint to the Branch Manager informing him about the lack 
of progress made on the claim. LIC did not bother to respond to that complaint at all. 
 
After a five-month long wait, in November, Mr. Chaurasia filed an RTI application with 
the PIO of the LIC office seeking details of action taken on his complaint, the name 
and designation of the officers responsible for not finalising Smt. Rambai’s claim and 
reasons for non-payment. RTI set the wheels in motion in the LIC office and a meeting 

82 Sunil Chaurasia is Chief Editor, Koylanchal Times and a core group member of the Suchana Adhikar 
Abhiyan a state-wide network of CSOs and activists involved in public education, advocacy and monitoring 
implementation of the RTI Act in Madhya Pradesh. CHRI works with the Abhiyan on RTI related issues.
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was held a day after the application was received. The next day LIC issued a cheque for 
Rs. 33,344/- being the first instalment of the payment and delivered it to Smt. Rambai. 
The remaining amount was also paid subsequently. While the original problem was 
solved the information requested was not provided. 
Mr. Chaurasia filed an appeal with the Appellate Authority but it was returned to him 
with wrong advice about where it should be filed again. Mr. Chaurasia filed a second 
appeal before the Central Information Commission in March 2007. 
 
The CIC summoned both parties for a hearing in July. LIC representatives informed the 
CIC that Smt. Rambai had been paid Rs. 4,707/- as interest for the period of delay. A 
technical problem in the computer module was said to have caused the delay. Therefore 
no officer could be held responsible. The Commission agreed with the appellant’s 
representative that fixing accountability was important as LIC had taken a very long time 
to settle the claim. The appellant’s representative also pointed out that the computer 
problem should have been rectified by the concerned officers in a timely manner. LIC 
being a public authority has a chain of decision-making, supervision and accountability 
which has to be disclosed proactively under the Act. The Commission agreed with this 
view and ordered LIC to disclose the identity of all officers who were involved in the 
decision making process on Smt. Rambai’s claim.
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RTI revives Panchayat Social Justice Committees in Gujarat83

In the course of its work in the rural areas of Panchmahals district, Gujarat, CHRI 
realised that a large number of community level problems were related to the poor 
functioning of panchayats and the lack of voice for the weaker sections of society. 
This despite the existence of laws that made participation of representatives of such 
communities mandatory in the decision-making processes of local bodies. Under the 
Gujarat Panchayats Act, 1993 a Social Justice Committee (SJC) is required to be set 
up for ensuring the participation of weaker sections of society in the decision-making 
process of the Gram Panchayat. Panchayat members nominate adult representatives 
from communities of dalits, women and religious minorities to the SJC in every 
village. SJCs have the power to identify the developmental needs of the village with 
particular emphasis on areas inhabited by weaker and marginalised families and 
make recommendations for initiating development projects. The Panchayat has a duty 
to implement these projects upon receiving sanction from the district administration. 
Hardly anybody knew about the existence of SJCs in Panchmahals.
 
CHRI surveyed 13 villages to ascertain the existence of the SJC and assess its working. 
The survey revealed that SJCs were formed only in four villages. In two villages the 
Talathis (revenue officials) told CHRI that the names of the SJCs members were not 
readily available. In three villages, upper caste people had been nominated to the SJC in 
place of dalits and adivasis. In the remaining villages the SJC had not been constituted 
at all. Where committees had been formed CHRI quizzed its members about their roles 
and responsibilities. It was no surprise that they appeared clueless. 
 
Zakir, a resident of Panchmahals had been trained to use the RTI Act at a CHRI training 
workshop. He filed an RTI application before the PIO of the Taluka Development Office 
seeking information about all SJCs constituted in various villages of Kalol taluka; the 
names and addresses of all members and copies of the minutes of the Taluka level 
meetings of the chairpersons of the SJC. Within a week Zakir was invited to the office 
to discuss the issue. 
 
When the Taluka Development Officer (TDO) told Zakir that the formation of the SJC 
was not his responsibility, Zakir drew his attention to the Panchayat Act which clearly 

83 http : cic.gov.in/Best Practices/Gujrat-12-August-2006.htm - as on 28th September 2007
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stated that the overall responsibility for ensuring the formation and smooth functioning 
of the SJC lay with the TDO. The TDO conceded and assured Zakir that all information 
and requested by him would be given within a few days. Subsequently the TDO sent 
a circular to all Talathis instructing them to constitute SJCs. After 45 days of filing the 
RTI application Zakir got the list of SJC members. He could not get the minutes of the 
SJC meetings held at taluka level as they had never been recorded in the Panchayat 
Resolution Book. 

Today, across the taluka, SJCs have become functional - three and a half years after the 
Panchayats were elected. Through the intelligent use of RTI Zakir was able to revive a 
defunct mechanism meant for ensuring the participation of weaker sections of society 
in the development process. 
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RTI TI helps to include name in BPL (Below Poverty Line) list84

Even after 60 years of independence India still has the world’s largest number of poor 
people living in a single country. Of its 1 billion plus citizens an estimated 260.3 million 
are below the poverty line. More than 75% of India’s poor live in villages. Governments 
have instituted several welfare schemes for the benefit of the imporverished and through 
periodic surveys, identify families that deserve  assistance under such schems. Poverty is 
measured by calculating the monetary equivalent of basic commodities like food grains 
consumed by a family to stay alive and healthy. The criteria is based on 13 parameters 
such as ownership (or lack of it) of land, household assets and access to non-food 
items like education and health care. A national poverty line has been calculated on the 
basis of statistical surveys conducted in all states. Any person consuming commodities 
and services worth Rs. 327.56 per month or less, in rural areas and Rs. 454.11 per 
month or less, in urban areas is
identified as a person living below the poverty line.85 States have fixed their own BPL 
benchmarks using similar criteria. The last survey was conducted in all states from 
2002. There are many complaints about truly deserving people being left out of the 
BPL list while some of their wealthier counterparts find mention on it. Politics plays a 
big role in deciding who gets on the list and who does not. RTI can be used to get the 
truly poor their rightful entitlements as shown in this story.

Shankar Satnami is an unlettered, landless agricultral labourer who lives in Rajpur Kesri 
village in Bilaspur district of Chattisgarh. Shankar’s name was included in the BPL list 
prepared during the 1990’s. However, in 2002 when the new BPL list was drawn up, 
Shankar was shocked to see that his name was missing. He was even more surprised 
to find that a relative of the local patwari had made it to the new list even though he 
was financially better off. Shankar rushed to the village Sarpanch and the Panchayat 
Secretary to find out why his name had been left out. They advised him to
use the Right to Information Act. 

Shankar filed an information request with the Takhatpur Janpad Panchayat seeking the 
following information :

	 1. What are the criteria for including the names of the poor in the BPL list?

84 Courtesy : Shri Prateek Pandey, Convenor Chhattishgarh Nagarik Pahal, Raipur, 2007.
85 Reply of the Government of India to a question raised in the Lok Sabha in 2005: http://164.100.24.208/
Isq14/quest.asp?gref=10770 as on 25 September,2007.
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	 2. What was the basis for the points awarded to me during the survey?” 

After Shankar received the information from the Janpad Panchayat, he learnt 
that he had qualified on 12 points based on the BPL survey that had been 
conducted in his block. This indicated that he fulfilled almost all criteria for 
being included in the list. Nevertheless his name had been left out. Armed with 
this information Shankar then approched the office of the Janpad Panchayat 
demanding to know why his name did not figure on the BPL list even though 
he fulfilled the criteria. The officers responsible for drawing up the BPL list had 
no answers. It was clear that his name had been deliberately omitted to include 
the names of other more influential people. The Janpad Panchayat finally 
agreed to include Shankar’s name in the list as they had no legitimate reason 
for denying him his entitlement. 

With the inclusion of his name in the BPL list Shankar has once again become 
eligible for receiving assistance under various welfare schemes meant for the 
poor.



Annex 1: Right to Information Act 2005

Right to Information Act 2005
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THE SECOND SCHEDULE
(See section 24)

Intelligence and security organisation established by the Central Government

1.	 Intelligence Bureau.
2.	 Research and Analysis Wing of the Cabinet Secretariat.
3.	 Directorate of Revenue Intelligence.
4.	 Central Economic Intelligence Bureau.
5.	 Directorate of Enforcement.
6.	 Narcotics Control Bureau.
7.	 Aviation ResearchCentre.
8.	 Special Frontier Force.
9.	 Border Security Force.
10.	 Central Reserve Police Force.
11.	 Indo-Tibetan Border Police.
12.	 Central Industrial Security Force.
13.	 National Security Guards.
14.	 Assam Rifles.
15.	 Sashastra Seema Bal.
16.	 Directorate General of Income Tax (Investigation).
17.	 National Technical Research Organisation.
18.	 Financial Intelligence Unit, India.
19.	 Special Protection Group.
20.	 Defence Research & Development Organisation.
21.	 Border Road Development Board.
22.	 National Security Council Secretariat.
23. 	 Central Bureau of Investigation.
24.	 National Investigation Agency.
25.	 National Intelligence Grid.

(As amended up to June 2011)
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                    
:—

            
:— 

“

” 

[ ]


                

:—  

(i) ; 

(ii) ; 

(iii) ; 

(iv)  
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MINISTRY OF PERSONNEL, PUBLIC GRIEVANCES AND PENSIONS 

(Department of Personnel and Training) 

NOTIFICATION 

New Delhi, the 21st
 
 July, 2014

G.S.R. 530(E).— In exercise of the powers conferred by sub-section (2) of section 24 of the Right to 

Information Act, 2005 (22 of 2005), the Central Government hereby makes the following further amendments 

in the Second Schedule to the said Act, namely:–– 

In the Second Schedule to the said Act, for S. No’s 7 and 8 and the entries relating thereto, the 

following S. No’s and the entries shall be substituted, namely:–– 

“7.  Aviation Research Centre of the Cabinet Secretariat. 

  8.    Special Frontier Force of the Cabinet Secretariat.”. 

 

[F.No 11/6/2014-IR] 

 

ARCHANA VARMA, Jt. Secy.  

 

Note.––The Second Schedule to the Right to Information Act, 2005 was amended from time to time vide 

notification numbers:–– 

 

(i) G.S.R. 347, dated the 28
th
 day of September, 2005; 

(ii) G.S.R. 235 (E), dated the 28
th
 day of March, 2008; 

(iii) G.S.R. 726 (E), dated the 8th day of October, 2008; 

(iv) G.S.R. 442 (E), dated the 9
th
 day of June, 2011. 
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2       THE   GAZETTE   OF  INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY              [PART II—SEC. 3(i)] 

MINISTRY OF PERSONNEL, PUBLIC GRIEVANCES AND PENSIONS 

(Department of Personnel and Training) 

NOTIFICATION 

New Delhi, the 8th July, 2016 

G.S.R. 673(E).—In exercise of powers conferred by sub-section (2) of section 24 of the Right to 

Information Act, 2005 (22 of 2005), the Central Government hereby makes the following further amendment 

in the Second Schedule to the said Act, namely:— 

In the Second Schedule to the Right to Information Act, 2005, after serial number 25 and the entry 

relating thereto, the following serial number and entry shall be inserted, namely:— 

“26. Strategic Forces Command”. 

[F. No. 1/1/2015-IR) 

DEVESH CHATURVEDI, Jt. Secy. 

Note:-  The Schedule to the Right to Information Act, 2005 was amended vide notification numbers  

(i) G.S.R. No. 347, dated 28
th
 day of September, 2005, (ii) G.S.R. No. 235(E), dated 28

th
 day of 

March, 2008; (iii) G.S.R. No. 726(E), dated 8
th
 October, 2008; and (iv) 442(E), dated 9

th
 June, 2011.
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 p
ap
er
 –
 a
ct
ua

l c
os

t; 
•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
ns
 –
 fi
xe
d 
pr
ic
e,
 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
s/

ex
tra

ct
s 

– 
Rs

 2
 p

er
 

pa
ge

;
•	
Fl
op
py
/d
is
ke
tte
 –
 R
s 
50
;

•	
Sa
m
pl
e/
m
od
el
s 
– 
ac
tu
al
 c
os
t;

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 r
ec
or
ds
 –
 1
st
 h
ou
r 

fre
e,

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t 1
5 

m
in

ut
es

 o
r 

fra
ct

io
n 

th
er

eo
f.

•	
A4
 p
ap
er
 c
op
ie
s 
– 
Rs
 2
 p
er
 p
ag
e

•	
M
ap
s,
 p
la
ns
, r
ep
or
ts
, p
ar
tia
l r
ec
or
d,
 

te
ch

ni
ca

l d
at

a,
 s

am
pl

e 
or

 m
od

el
s 

– 
fe

e 
ch

eq
ue

/p
ay

 o
rd

er
 –

fe
e 

fix
ed

 b
y 

PI
O

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
/d
is
ke
tte
 o
r 
an
y 
ot
he
r 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
m

od
e 

– 
Rs

 5
0 

pe
r 

ite
m

;
•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 r
ec
or
ds
 –
 1
st
 h
ou
r 

fre
e,

 R
s 

10
 fo

r 
ea

ch
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t h
al

f 
ho

ur
; w

or
ks

 –
 fe

e 
fix

ed
 b

y 
PI

O
.

•	
A4
 p
ap
er
 c
op
ie
s 
– 
Rs
 2
 p
er
 p
ag
e

•	
La
rg
e 
siz
e 
pa
pe
r –
 a
ct
ua
l c
os
t o
f c
op
y

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
 –
 R
s 
50
 p
er
 it
em
. 

•	
Pr
in
t c
op
ie
s-
 R
s 
2 
pe
r 
pa
ge
;

•	
Sa
m
pl
es
/m
od
el
s 
– 
ac
tu
al
 c
os
t;

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 re
co
rd
s 
– 
1s
t h
ou
r f
re
e,
 

Rs
 1

0 
fo

r e
ac

h 
su

bs
eq

ue
nt

 h
al

f h
ou

r.

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

 C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t r
ec

ei
pt

/ 
de

m
an

d 
dr

af
t/

ba
nk

er
’s

 
ch

eq
ue

.

In
di

an
 p

os
ta

l o
rd

er
/ 

de
m

an
d 

dr
af

t/
ba

nk
er

’s
 

ch
eq

ue
/p

ay
 o

rd
er

 
dr

aw
n 

in
 fa

vo
r 

of
 S

PI
O

 
or

 b
y 

re
m

itt
in

g 
it 

to
 th

e 
tre

as
ur

y 
as

 p
er

 K
ar

na
ta

ka
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l C
od

e.

C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t r
ec

ei
pt

/ 
co

ur
t f

ee
 s

ta
m

p/
tre

as
ur

y 
ch

al
la

n/
de

m
an

d 
dr

af
t/

ba
nk

er
’s

 c
he

qu
e 

/ 
pa

y 
or

de
r.
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G
ov

er
nm

en
t

M
ad

hy
a 

Pr
ad

es
h

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

Rs
. 1

0

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
A4
/A
3 
pa
pe
r 
– 
Rs
 2
 p
er
 p
ag
e;
 L
ar
ge
 

si
ze

 p
ap

er
 –

 a
ct

ua
l c

os
t o

f c
op

y;
 

Pr
in

te
d 

or
 e

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
fo

rm
at

- 
ac

tu
al

 
co

st
;

•	
Fl
op
py
/d
is
ke
tte
/v
id
eo
 c
as
se
tte
- 

ac
tu

al
 c

os
t a

s 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 b
y 

SP
IO

 
or

 S
AP

IO
; 

•	
Sa
m
pl
es
- 
co
st
 fi
xe
d 
by
 th
e 
SP
IO
 o
r 

SA
PI

O
; 

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 d
oc
um
en
ts
- 
Rs
 5
0 
fo
r 

fir
st

 h
ou

r 
or

 le
ss

 th
an

 o
ne

 h
ou

r, 
Rs

 
25

 fo
r 

ea
ch

 s
ub

se
qu

en
t 1

5 
m

in
ut

es
.

Fo
r 

BP
L 

Ap
pl

ic
an

ts

•	
In
fo
rm
at
io
n 
di
re
ct
ly
 r
el
at
ed
 w
ith
 

th
em

 s
ha

ll 
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d.

•	
In
fo
rm
at
io
n 
no
t d
ire
ct
ly
 r
el
at
ed
 b
ut
  

up
 to

 5
0 

pa
ge

s 
: s

ha
ll 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

 
m

or
e 

th
an

 5
0 

pa
ge

s:
 in

sp
ec

tio
n 

sh
al

l b
e 

al
lo

w
ed

. 

Ap
pe

al
 F

ee

•	
Fi
rs
t a
pp
ea
l t
o 
Ap
pe
lla
te
 A
ut
ho
rit
y–
 

Rs
 5

0;

•	
Se
co
nd
 a
pp
ea
l t
o 
SI
C
 –
 R
s 
10
0.

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t r
ec

ei
pt

/ 
no

n–
ju

di
ci

al
 s

ta
m

p.
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G
ov

er
nm

en
t

M
ah

ar
as

ht
ra

 
(E

ac
h 

RT
I 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

m
us

t 
be

 li
m

ite
d 

to
 o

ne
 

su
bj

ec
t m

at
te

r 
an

d 
15

0 
w

or
ds

 o
nl

y)

M
an

ip
ur

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

 R
s.

 1
0

Rs
. 1

0

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
A-
4/
A-
3 
pa
pe
r 
-R
s 
2 
pe
r 
pa
ge
; 

•	
La
rg
e 
si
ze
 p
ap
er
- 
Ac
tu
al
 c
os
t

•	
M
ap
s,
 d
oc
um
en
ts
 e
tc
. –
 fi
xe
d 
pr
ic
e

•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
ns
-f
ix
ed
 p
ric
e,
 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
s/

ex
tra

ct
s-

Rs
 2

 p
er

 p
ag

e;

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
/d
is
ke
tte
 -
Rs
 5
0 
pe
r 
ite
m
;

•	
Ad
di
tio
na
l p
os
ta
l c
ha
rg
es
- 
N
o 
po
st
al
 

ch
ar

ge
s 

if 
ap

pl
ic

an
t c

ol
le

ct
s 

in
 

pe
rs

on
;

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 R
ec
or
ds
- 
Fr
ee
 fo
r 
fir
st
 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t 
15

 m
in

ut
e.

 

Ap
pe

al
 F

ee
: 

•	
Fi
rs
t t
o 
Ap
pe
lla
te
 A
ut
ho
rit
y-
 R
s 
20

•	
Se
co
nd
 A
pp
ea
l t
o 
SI
C
- 
Rs
 2
0

•	
A-
4/
A-
3 
pa
pe
r 
-R
s 
2 
pe
r 
pa
ge
; 

•	
La

rg
e 

si
ze

 p
ap

er
- 

Ac
tu

al
 c

os
t

•	
Pr

in
te

d 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

ns
-f

ix
ed

 p
ric

e,
 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
s/

ex
tra

ct
s-

Rs
 2

 p
er

 p
ag

e.

•	
Fl

op
py

/C
D

/d
is

ke
tte

 -
Rs

 5
0 

pe
r 

ite
m

;

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

fe
e:

 C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t r
ec

ei
pt

/d
em

an
d 

dr
af

t/
ba

nk
er

’s
 c

he
qu

e/
co

ur
t f

ee
 s

ta
m

p.

Ad
di

tio
na

l f
ee

: C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t r
ec

ei
pt

/ 
de

m
an

d 
dr

af
t/

 b
an

ke
r’

s 
ch

eq
ue

/ 
m

on
ey

 o
rd

er

Ap
pe

al
 fe

e:
 C

as
h 

ag
ai

ns
t 

re
ce

ip
t/

de
m

an
d 

dr
af

t/
ba

nk
er

’s
 c

he
qu

e/
co

ur
t 

fe
e 

st
am

p

C
a

sh
 a

g
a

in
st

 r
ec

ei
p

t/

d
em

a
nd

 d
ra

ft
/b

a
nk

er
’s

 

ch
eq

ue
 p

a
ya

b
le

 t
o

 t
he

 

A
cc

o
un

ts
 O

ff
ic

er
 o

f 
th

e 

pu
bl

ic
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.
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G
ov

er
nm

en
t

M
eg

ha
la

ya

M
iz

or
am

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

Rs
.1

0

 R
s.

 1
0

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
Sa

m
pl

es
/m

od
el

s-
 a

ct
ua

l c
os

t

•	
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

of
 R

ec
or

ds
- 

Fr
ee

 fo
r 

fir
st

 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t 

15
 m

in
ut

e.

•	
A-

4/
A-

3 
pa

pe
r 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
d-

Rs
 2

 

pe
r 

pa
ge

; L
ar

ge
 s

iz
e 

pa
pe

r-
 A

ct
ua

l 

co
st

;

•	
Pr

in
te

d 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

ns
-f

ix
ed

 p
ric

e,
 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
s/

ex
tra

ct
s-

Rs
 2

 p
er

 p
ag

e;

•	
Fl

op
py

/C
D

/d
is

ke
tte

 o
r 

an
y 

ot
he

r 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
m

od
e-

Rs
 5

0 
pe

r 
ite

m
;

•	
Sa

m
pl

es
 a

nd
 M

od
el

s-
 A

ct
ua

l c
os

t;

•	
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

of
 R

ec
or

ds
- 

Fr
ee

 fo
r 

fir
st

 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 1

5 
m

in
ut

es
 

or
 a

 fr
ac

tio
n 

th
er

eo
f.

•	
A-
4/
A-
3 
pa
pe
r 
ph
ot
oc
op
ie
d-
Rs
 2
 

pe
r 

pa
ge

; L
ar

ge
 s

iz
e 

pa
pe

r-
 A

ct
ua

l 
co

st
; P

rin
to

ut
- 

Rs
 5

 p
er

 p
ag

e 

•	
Sa
m
pl
es
 a
nd
 M
od
el
s-
 A
ct
ua
l c
os
t

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

C
a

sh
 a

g
a

in
st

 r
ec

ei
p

t/

de
m

an
d 

dr
af

t/
 b

an
ke

r’
s 

ch
eq

u
e/

In
d

ia
n

 P
o

st
er

 

O
rd

er
.

Re
qu

es
t f

ee
: 

C
as

h 
ag

ai
ns

t 
re

ce
ip

t/
tr

ea
su

ry
 c

ha
lla

n/
de

m
an

d 
dr

af
t/

ba
nk

er
’s

 
ch

eu
e/

In
di

an
 P

os
te

r O
rd

er
.
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G
ov

er
nm

en
t

N
ag

al
an

d

O
di

sh
a

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

Rs
. 1

0

Rs
. 1

0

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 R
ec
or
ds
- 
Fr
ee
 fo
r 
fir
st
 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
  n

ex
t h

ou
r

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
/d
is
ke
tte
 o
r 
an
y 
ot
he
r 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
m

od
e-

Rs
 5

0 
pe

r 
ite

m

Ap
pe

al
 F

ee

•	
Fi
rs
t a
pp
ea
l t
o 
Ap
pe
lla
te
 A
ut
ho
rit
y–
 

Rs
 4

0;

•	
Se
co
nd
 a
pp
ea
l t
o 
SI
C
 –
 R
s 
50
.

•	
A-
4/
A-
3 
pa
pe
r 
-R
s 
2 
pe
r 
pa
ge
; 

•	
La
rg
e 
si
ze
 p
ap
er
- 
Ac
tu
al
 c
os
t

•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
ns
-f
ix
ed
 p
ric
e,
 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
s/

ex
tra

ct
s-

Rs
 2

 p
er

 p
ag

e.

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
/d
is
ke
tte
 o
r 
an
y 
ot
he
r 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
m

od
e-

Rs
 5

0 
pe

r 
ite

m
;

•	
Sa
m
pl
es
 a
nd
 M
od
el
s-
 A
ct
ua
l c
os
t

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 R
ec
or
ds
- 
Fr
ee
 fo
r 
fir
st
 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t 
ho

ur
.

•	
A-
4/
A-
3 
pa
pe
r-
 R
s 
2 
pe
r 
pa
ge
; 

•	
La
rg
er
 p
ap
er
- 
ac
tu
al
 c
os
t

•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
n 
– 
fix
ed
 p
ric
e

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

Ad
di

tio
na

l f
ee

:
C

as
h

Ap
pe

al
 fe

e:
C

ou
rt 

fe
e 

st
am

p

C
a

sh
 a

g
a

in
st

 r
ec

ei
p

t/
de

m
an

d 
dr

af
t/

 b
an

ke
r’

s 
ch

eq
ue

.

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

fe
e:

C
as

h/
 tr

ea
su

ry
 c

ha
lla

n.
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G
ov

er
nm

en
t

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
A-
4 
pr
in
t o
ut
 fr
om
 c
om
pu
te
r-
 R
s.
 1
0 

pe
r 

pa
ge

;

•	
C
er
tif
ie
d 
sa
m
pl
es
 o
r 
m
od
el
s-
 a
ct
ua
l 

co
st

  

•	
M
ap
s/
 p
la
ns
 c
os
t f
ix
ed
 b
y 
th
e 
PI
O
 

de
pe

nd
in

g 
up

on
 th

e 
co

st
 o

f l
ab

ou
r, 

m
at

er
ia

l, 
eq

ui
pm

en
t a

nd
 o

th
er

 
am

ill
ia

ry
 e

xp
en

se
s;

•	
Vi
de
oc
as
se
tte
/m
ic
ro
fil
m
/m
ic
ro
fic
he
- 

re
as

on
ab

le
 c

os
t f

ix
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PI
O

 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

up
on

 th
e 

co
st

 o
f l

ab
ou

r, 
m

at
er

ia
l, 

eq
ui

pm
en

t a
nd

 o
th

er
 

am
ill

ia
ry

 e
xp

en
se

s;

•	
Fl
op
py
 d
is
ke
tte
 (1
.4
4 
M
B)
/ 
C
D
 w
ith
 

co
ve

r 
– 

Rs
. 5

0

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 r
ec
or
ds
-F
re
e 
fo
r 
fir
st
 

ho
ur

, R
s.

 5
 fo

r 
15

 m
in

. o
r 

a 
fra

ct
io

n 
th

er
eo

f. 

Ap
pe

al
 F

ee
: 

•	
Fi
rs
t a
pp
ea
l t
o 
Ap
pe
lla
te
 A
ut
ho
rit
y-
 

Rs
. 2

0

•	
Se
co
nd
 a
pp
ea
l t
o 
SI
C
- 
Rs
. 2
5 

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

Ad
di

tio
na

l f
ee

:  

C
as

h

Ap
pe

al
 fe

e:

C
ou

rt 
fe

e 
st

am
p

96



G
ov

er
nm

en
t

Pu
nj

ab

Ra
ja

st
ha

n

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

Fe
es

Rs
. 1

0

Rs
. 1

0

Ad
di

tio
na

l F
ee

s

•	
A-
4 
/A
-3
- 
pa
pe
r-
 R
s.
 2
  p
er
 p
ag
e

•	
La
rg
e 
si
ze
 p
ap
er
- 
Ac
tu
al
 c
os
t

•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
n 
- 
At
 th
e 
pr
ic
e 

fix
ed

 b
y 

su
ch

 p
ub

lic
at

io
n 

or
 a

t t
he

 
co

st
 o

f R
s 

2 
pe

r 
pa

ge
 p

ho
to

co
py

 o
r 

in
 p

rin
te

d 
fo

rm

•	
Ph
ot
oc
op
y 
/e
xt
ra
ct
 –
 R
s 
10
 p
er
 p
ag
e

•	
Fl
op
py
/D
is
ke
tte
-R
s 
50

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 r
ec
or
ds
- 
1s
t h
ou
r 
fre
e,
 

Rs
 5

 fo
r 

ea
ch

 s
ub

se
qu

en
t 1

5 
m

in
ut

es
 

or
 fr

ac
tio

n 
th

er
eo

f

•	
A-
4 
/A
-3
 p
ap
er
 -
Rs
 2
 p
er
 p
ag
e;
 

•	
La
rg
e 
si
ze
 p
ap
er
- 
Ac
tu
al
 c
os
t;

•	
Pr
in
te
d 
pu
bl
ic
at
io
n 
– 
fix
ed
 p
ric
e

•	
Fl
op
py
/C
D
/d
is
ke
tte
 o
r 
an
y 
ot
he
r 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
m

od
e-

Rs
 5

0 
pe

r 
ite

m

•	
Ph
ot
oc
op
y/
ex
tra
ct
s-
Rs
 2
 p
er
 p
ag
e;

•	
Sa
m
pl
es
 a
nd
 M
od
el
s-
 A
ct
ua
l c
os
t

•	
In
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 R
ec
or
ds
- 
Fr
ee
 fo
r 
fir
st
 

ho
ur

 a
nd

 R
s 

5 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 1

5 
m

in
ut

es
 

or
 a

 fr
ac

tio
n 

th
er

eo
f;

M
od

e 
of

 P
ay

m
en

t

C
as

h/
ba

nk
 d

ra
ft/

 b
an

ke
r’

s 
ch

eq
ue

/t
re

as
ur

y 
ch

al
la

n/
In

di
an

 P
os

ta
l O

rd
er

.

C
a

sh
 a

g
a

in
st

 r
ec

ei
p

t/
 

ba
nk

er
’s

 c
he

qu
e/

de
m

an
d 

dr
af

t.
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ov
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t

Si
kk
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u
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pl
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at
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Annex 4: Appeal Rules 
(Current as on May 2012)

The Central and State Governments have prescribed Appeals Rules under the RTI Act. CHRI has 
not reproduced all of these rules here because they are quite detailed, such that a summary could 
miss important information.

In general, the Appeal Rules outline the procedure that citizens should follow when making an 
appeal to the departmental Appellate Authority or to the Information Commission. For a copy of 
the Central Government Appeal Rules please log on to the Ministry of Personnel, Public Grievances 
and Pensions RTI website at http://righttoinformation.gov.in/. To find out if your State has issued 
Appeal Rules you can log on to the official state government website.

Notably, even though the RTI Act does not require a fee to be charged for filing appeals, some state 
governments have prescribed appeal fees in their rules.  These fees are not valid under the RTI Act.  
You may wish to consider lodging a complaint with your State Information Commission requesting 
the Commission to declare the rules invalid and order the public authorities not to collect appeal 
fees.  The states which have prescribed appeal fees are listed below:

Government	 Fee for Appeal	 Fee for Appeal 	 Mode of Payment
	 to AA	 to IC

Arunachal Pradesh	 Rs 50	 Nil	 Treasury challan.

Bihar	 Rs 10	 Rs 10	 Cash against receipt/DD 
			   banker’s cheque/non-judiccal 	
				    stamp paper

Chattisgarh	 Rs 50	 Rs 100	 Cash or nonjudicial stamp
	 By Post Rs 75	 By Post Rs 125	 paper

Madhya Pradesh	 Rs 50	 Rs 100	 Cash/non-judicial stamp

Maharashtra	 Rs 20	 Rs 20	 Cash against receipt/			
			   demand draft/banker’s 		
			   cheque/court fee stamp

Mizoram	 Rs 40	 Rs 50	 Court fee stamp

Odisha	 Rs 20	 Rs 50	 Court fee stamp

Sikkim	 Rs 100	 Rs 100	 Bank Receipt
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Annex 5: Information Commissions - 
Contact Details

(Current as on December 2018)

103

Information Commissions

	
Central Information Commission

(Central Government, Delhi Government, and the Union Territories of Puducherry, 
Andaman and Nicobar, Lakshwadeep, Daman and Diu, Dadra and 

Nagar Haveli and Chandigarh)
CIC Bhawan, Baba Gangnath Marg,  Munirka, New Delhi - 110 067

Fax: 26186536    |    Helpline No.: 011-26767500
Email : fdesk-cic@gov.in    |    Website: https://cic.gov.in/ 

Andhra Pradesh Information Commission
5th Floor DPS Constructions,
Opp. Sai Baba Temple,
Abutting NH 16 Service Road,
Atmakur (V),
Mangalagiri (M),
Guntur District,
Pincode : 522302
Website: http://tsic.gov.in/apicWebsite/

Arunachal Pradesh Information 
Commission
Block 2, 3 & 4, Secretariat Annexe,
Adjacent to MLA Cottage
P.O.: Itanagar
District Papum  Pare, Arunachal Pradesh
Pin. 791111
Website: http://arungovard.nic.in/
InformationCommissioner.aspx

Assam State Information Commission  
Jonakee Complex 
Shilpgram Road 
Panjabari, Guwahati- 781037 
Phone: 0361-2332704, 2337900, 
2331193 
Email: secretary.sicassam@gov.in  
Website: http://www.sicassam.in/

Bihar State Information Commission 
Bihar State Information Commission 
Fourth Floor Soochna Bhawan 
Bailey Road  
Patna - 800015, Bihar (India)
E-mail: bsicpatna@gmail.com 

Chhattisgarh State Information 
Commission
Sector-19, North Block, Atal Nagar,
District - Raipur - 492002 (Chhattisgarh)
Phone: 0771 - 2512107 
Fax: 0771 – 2512102
Email : sic.cg@nic.in
website : http://siccg.gov.in/

Goa State Information Commission 
Kamat Towers,Seventh Floor, 
Patto-Plaza, Panaji, Goa, PIN 403001. 
Ph. 0832-2437880. Fax 0832-2438109 
Email: spio-gsic.goa@nic.in
Website: http://www.gsic.goa.gov.in/
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Gujrat Information Commission
Karmayogi Bhavan, State Level Offices 
Block No. 1, Second Floor, sector-10 A 
Gandhinagar 
Phone: +91 79 232 52706, 52966 
FAX: +91 79 232 52829 
Email:  sec-gic@gujarat.gov.in 
Website:  http://gic.gujarat.gov.in/default.aspx

Haryana  State Information Commission 
SCO No. 70-71(1st floor) 
Sector 8-C, Chandigarh,
Fax: 2783834,2720114
Email: ussichry@yahoo.co.in 
Website: http://cicharyana.gov.in/

Himachal Pradesh State Information 
Commission
Keonthal Commercial Complex,
Khalini, Shimla-171002
Phone (Office): 0177-2629894, 2621529
Fax (Office): 0177-2621529
E-mail: scic-hp@nic.in		
Website: http://hp.gov.in/sic/

J&K State Information Commission
Jammu Office:
Wazarat  Road, Near DC Office Jammu- 
0191-2520927, 0191- 2520947, 
0191-2520937
e-mail: informationcommission@gmail.com
cic.jksic@gmail.com 
website: http://jksic.nic.in/
Srinagar Office:
Old Assembly Complex , 
Srinagar, Kashmir 
0194-2506661 , 0194-2506662

Jharkhand State Information 
Commission 
Room No. 202, Engineers Hostel-2 
H.E.C. Campus,
Dhurwa, Ranchi 
Jharkhand-834004	
Phone: 0651-2401426
Website: http://jsic.jharkhand.gov.in/

Karnataka Information Commission 
Room No. 302, Mahiti Soudha,
Devaraj Urs Road, Opposite to Vidhan 
Soudha West Gate-2, Bangalore-560001
Email: sic-drss-kic@karnataka.gov.in
Phone: 080 – 22371959
FAX No.: 080 - 22341660 
Website: http://www.kic.gov.in/welcome.do

Kerala State Information Commission
T.C. 26/298, Punnen Road 
Thiruvananthapuram 
Kerala - 695 001 
Phone PA to CIC  0471-2561623
Fax : 0471- 2330920
Email: sic@kerala.nic.in
Website: http://keralasic.gov.in/

Madhya Pradesh State Information 
Commission 
Suchna Bhawan, 35-B, Arera Hills,
Bhopal - 462011
Phone: 0755-2556871
Website: http://www.mpsic.nic.in
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Information Commissions

Maharashtra State Information 
Commission 
State Information Commission 
13th Floor, New Administrative Building, 
Mantralaya, Mumbai 400032. 
Phone: 022 22856078
Website: https://sic.maharashtra.gov.in/
Site/Home/Index.aspx

Manipur Information Commission 
New Secretariat, Imphal-West Manipur 
Phone: 0385-2456495(O)/ 0385-
2449640(R) 
Email ID: ibobi@hotmail.com
Website: https://maninfocom.nic.in/

Meghalaya State Information 
Commission 
1st Floor, New Administrative Building, 
Lower Lachumiere, Shillong – 793001, 
Meghalaya, India.
Website: http://megsic.gov.in

Mizoram Information Commission
New Secretariat Complex, Khatla
Mizoram Aizawl - 796001
Telefax: 0389 – 2334928
E-mail: secy.mic-mz@gov.in
Website: https://mic.mizoram.gov.in/

Nagaland State Information 
Commission 
Officers’ Hill, below Raj Bhavan
P.O. Box - 148
Kohima, Nagaland -797001
Phone: 0370-2242321 (O)
E-mail: cic.nagaland@gmail.com & sic-ngl@nic.in
Website: http://nlsic.nagaland.gov.in

Odisha Information Commission  
Address- B-1 Block, Toshali Bhawan 
Satyanagar, Bhubaneswar-751007
Phone/Fax: (0674) 2571401/2570561 
E-mail: odishasoochana@nic.in
Website: http://
orissasoochanacommission.nic.in

Punjab  State Information Commission 
Red Cross Building, Near Rose Garden, 
Sector 16, Chandigarh
Phone: 0172-2864105 
E-mail: scic@punjabmail.gov.in
pcic20@punjabmail.gov.in 
website: http://infocommpunjab.com/

Rajasthan State Information 
Commission 
Jhalana Link Road, OTS-MNIT Chauraha, 
JLN Marg Jaipur-302017 
E-mail: ric.rajasthan@yahoo.com
FAX : 0141-2719071
Website: http://ric.rajasthan.gov.in/

Sikkim Information Commission
Lower Secretariat, 2nd. Floor.
Opposite Supermarket.
Gangtok - 73710, Sikkim, India
Phone: 03592-205710, 203677
Fax: 03592-208526
Email: sicosikkim@gmail.com 
Website: http://www.cicsikkim.gov.in/

Tamil Nadu Information Commission
No.2, Theagaraya Salai, Near Aalai 
Amman Koil, Teynampet
Chennai - 600 018 
Phone: 044- 24312841- 48
Fax: 044 - 24357580
E-mail: sic@nic.in
Website: http://www.tnsic.gov.in/ 
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Telangana State Information 
Commission
Samachara Hakku Bhavan,
D.No.5-4-399,
Behind Mozam-Jahi Market,
Hyderabad - 500001
Phone: 040-24740240/46  
Fax: 040-24740592
E-mail: recp-tsic@telangana.gov.in 
Website: http://tsic.gov.in/tsicWebsite/

Tripura Information Commission 
Secretariat Annexe Building, 
Pt. Nehru Complex, 
Agartala - 799 006 
Tripura West 
Phone: +0381 - 2318021 
Email: tripura.info123@gmail.com
Website: http://tripurarti.nic.in/contactus.
php

Uttarakhand Information Commission 
RTI Bhawan, 
Mussoorie Bypass Ring Road, Ladpur,
Dehradun 248008, India,
Phone: +91 135 2675780, 
+91 135 2675779 
Email: uicddn@gmail.com
Website: http://uic.gov.in/

Uttar Pradesh State Information 
Commission 
7/7A, RTI Bhawan, 
Vibhuti Khand, Gomti Nagar 
Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh 
E-mail: webmaster.upic@gmail.com
Website: http://upic.gov.in/

West Bengal Information Commission 
11 A, Mirza Galib Street, Khadya Bhaban, 
Kolkata-700 087
Fax: (033) 2252-0501
Phone:  (033) 2252-0509 
Email: scic-wb@nic.in
Website: http://wbic.gov.in/home.do

 



Annex 6: Resources & links
	 Right to Information - A Citizen Gateway
	 A RTI portal developed by the Government of India for citizens to access information published 

by government departments on the web.
	 Website: http://rti.gov.in/

	 Central Information Commission 
	 The official website of the Central Information Commission which gives citizens an insight 

into the functioning of the Commission, its decision making processes, decisions on appeals 
and complaints, etc.

	 Website: http://www.cic.gov.in

	 Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative
	 A comprehensive background to the right to information movement in India along with the 

latest developments at the Centre and the States.
	 Email: info@humanrightsinitaitive.org
	 Websi te: ht tp://humanrights ini t iat ive.org/index.php?opt ion=com_content 

&view=article&id=62&Itemid=71

	 National Campaign for People’s Right to Information
	 The NCPRI was formed to advocate for the right to information at the national level.  It is a 

national forum for civil society groups, activists and individuals across India to share their 
experiences on the right to information and is a platform for discussion, debate and advocacy 
between individuals and the Government. 

	 Email: ncprimailinglist@yahoogroups.com
	 Website: www.righttoinformation.info

	 RTI India
	 RTI India is a community portal dedicated to discussing issues related to the implementation 

of the RTI Act in India.
	 Website: www.rtiindia.org 

	 RTI Anonymous
	 RTI Anonymous is an online service, through which, any Indian citizen can file RTI applications 

anonymously.  The RTI Anonymous Community will file those RTI Applications in their name 
and upload the documents obtained as a reply on this website.

	 Website: http://getup4change.org/rti/
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	 Hum Janenge 
An online discussion board focused on the monitoring the use and implementation of the 
right to information in India, providing a forum for discussing issues/problems and sharing 
successes. Hum Janenge’s primary networking mode is via their listserve, which all members 
of the public are welcome to sign up to.
Email:humjanenge@yahoogroups.co.in

	 KRIA Katte (On-Line Discussion Board, Karnataka)
An online platform for interested groups and individuals to meet, share experiences and 
spread awareness about the right to information in Karnataka. The group closely monitors 
the implementation of the RTI Act in Karnataka and across the country. 
Email: kria@yahoogroups.com
Website: http://groups.yahoo.com/group/kria

	 Jankari
A call centre in Bihar for facilitating use of RTI especially by people living in villages who 
are unable to read and write. The call center executives is virtually wirte applications on 
behalf of the complainants. A sum of Rs. 10 as fees (under RTI provisions) is automatically 
charged in the caller’s telephone bill. The caller is be alloted a registration number by the 
call centre. Ph. No. : 155331 (premium call charges) and 155330 (normal call charges)

	 RTI Foundation of India
RTI Foundation of India is a web resource developed by a group of professionals based 
in Indore who have watched the implementation of the RTI Act over the years. They have 
created a website for providing access to important developments, decisions, analytical 
articles and other important resources on RTI.
Website:  http://www.rtifoundationofindia.com/

	 Hall of Shame
	 CHRI curates the Hall of Shame by documenting media reports of attacks on RTI users and 

activists on a Google Map. This database has been created to prevent the disappearance 
of such reports from public memory; to encourage readers to report such incidents; 
to encourage civil society actors and policymakers to work together to put in place a 
mechanism to prevent such attacks and to support and defend all RTI users who are 
attacked because they are in fact human rights defenders.

	 Website: http://attacksonrtiusers.org/

	 RTI Online
	 RTI Online is a portal set up by the Government of India to enable citizens to send RTI 

applications and appeals to all ministries and departments and other registered public 
authorities under its jurisdiction. Fee payment can also be made through this portal using 
credit/debit cards, Master/Visa cards and RuPay cards.

	 Website: https://rtionline.gov.in/
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